Public Document Pack

Agenda for a meeting of the Governance and Audit
Committee to be held on Thursday, 26 March 2020 at
10.00 am in Committee Room 4 - City Hall, Bradford
Members of the Committee – Councillors
LABOUR

CONSERVATIVE

Johnson (Ch)
Thornton (DCh)
Swallow

Pollard

LIBERAL DEMOCRAT AND
INDEPENDENT GROUP
Stubbs

Alternates:
LABOUR

CONSERVATIVE

Godwin
M Slater
Watson

Ellis

LIBERAL DEMOCRAT AND
INDEPENDENT GROUP
Reid

Notes:
 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by
contacting the Agenda contact shown below.
 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if
Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded.
 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer
named at the foot of that agenda item.

From:
Parveen Akhtar
City Solicitor
Agenda Contact: Fatima Butt
Phone: 01274 432227
E-Mail: fatima.butt@bradford.gov.uk

To:

A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS
1.

ALTERNATE MEMBERS (Standing Order 34)
The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.

2.

DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST
(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution)
To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure
must include the nature of the interest.
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes
apparent to the member during the meeting.
Notes:

3.

(1)

Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in
discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set
out in the Code of Conduct. Disclosable pecuniary interests
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner.

(2)

Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months
must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this
restriction applies to them. A failure to comply with these
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992.

(3)

Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not
disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should
be made in the interest of clarity.

(4)

Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council
Standing Order 44.

MINUTES
Recommended –
That the minutes of the meeting held on 23 January 2020 be
signed as a correct record (previously circulated).
(Fatima Butt – 01274 432227)

4.

INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution)
Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by
contacting the person shown after each agenda item. Certain reports
and background papers may be restricted.
Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.
If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.
Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if
you wish to appeal.
(Fatima Butt - 01274 432227)

B. BUSINESS ITEMS
5.

MINUTES OF WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (WYPF) LOCAL
PENSION BOARD MEETING HELD ON 17 DECEMBER 2019
The Council’s Financial Regulation require the minutes of meetings of
the WYPF Local Pension Board to be submitted to this Committee.
In accordance with this requirement, the Director of West Yorkshire
Pension Fund will submit Document “AA” which reports on the
minutes of the meeting of the WYPF Local Pension Board held on 17
December 2019.
RecommendedThat the minutes of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Local
Pension Board held on 17 December 2019 were considered.
(Caroline Blackburn – 01274 434523)

6.

MINUTES OF WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (WYPF)
INVESTMENT ADVISORY PANEL HELD ON 30 JANUARY 2020
The Council’s Financial Regulations require the minutes of meetings of
the WYPF be submitted to this Committee.
In accordance with this requirement, the Director of West Yorkshire
Pension Fund will submit Not for Publication Document “AB” which
reports on the minutes of the meeting of the WYPF Investment
Advisory Panel held on 30 January 2020.

1-8

Recommended –
That the minutes of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Investment
Advisory Panel held on 30 January 2020 be considered.
(Rodney Barton – 01274 432317)
7.

WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND AUDIT STRATEGY
MEMORANDUM FOR THE YEAR ENDING 31 MARCH 2020

9 - 28

The External Auditor will submit Document “AC” which reports on the
Audit Strategy Memorandum for the West Yorkshire Pension Fund for
the year ended 31 March 2020. The document:


describes the approach to the audit of the Pension
Fund’s financial statements;



includes the assessment of the significant risks of
material misstatement in the financial statements; and



outlines the proposed testing strategy to address the
identified risks.

RecommendedThat the Committee considers and approves the Audit Strategy
Memorandum for the West Yorkshire Pension Fund for 2019/20
(Document “AC”).
(Sharon Liddle – 0191 3836300)
8.

AUDIT STRATEGY MEMORANDUM 2019/20 - CITY OF BRADFORD
METROPOLITAN DISTRICT COUNCIL
The External Auditor will submit Document “AD” which sets out the
Audit Strategy Memorandum for the City of Bradford Metropolitan
District Council 2019/20. The document:





describes the approach to the audit of the Council’s financial
statements;
includes the assessment of the significant risks of material
misstatement in the
financial statements; and
outlines the proposed testing strategy to address the identified
risks.

RecommendedThat the Committee consider and approve the Audit Strategy
Memorandum for the City of Bradford Metropolitan District
Council (Document “AD”).
(Mark Outterside – 0191 383 6300)

29 - 52

9.

EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT

53 - 64

The External Auditor will submit Document “AE” which provides the
Committee with an update on progress in delivering External Audit
responsibilities in 2019/20. It also provides an update on non-audit
assurance work completed in 2018/19 and summarises key national
publications that may be of interest to Members.
RecommendedThat the report (Document “AE”) be considered.
(Mark Outterside – 0191 383 6300)
10.

TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2020-21

65 - 106

The Director of Finance will submit Document “AF” which presents
the Council’s 2020-21 Treasury Management Strategy. It links to the
budget decisions for 2020-21 set out in the Capital Strategy and
Revenue Estimates.
RecommendedThat the changes to the Treasury Management Strategy
(Document “AF”) set out in section 6b and 7.6 be noted and
referred to Council for adoption.
(David Willis – 01274 432361)

THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 5/

Report of the Director West Yorkshire Pension Fund to
the meeting of Governance and Audit Committee to be
held on 26 March 20

AA
Subject:
Minutes of West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF) Local Pension Board meeting held
17 December 2019

Summary statement:
The role of the Pension Board, as defined by sections 5(1) and (2) of the Public Service
Pensions Act 2013 is to assist the Council as Scheme Manager in ensuring the effective
and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS.
City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council (the Council), as Scheme Manager, as
defined under section 4 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013, has delegated legal and
strategic responsibility for West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF) to the Governance and
Audit Committee.
The minutes of the WYPF Pension Board meeting are to be submitted to this committee.

Rodney Barton
Director

Portfolio:
Leader of Council & Corporate

Report Contact: Caroline Blackburn
Phone: (01274) 434523
E-mail: caroline.blackburn@bradford.gov.uk

Overview & Scrutiny Area:
Corporate

Page 1

1.

SUMMARY

 The Council’s Financial Regulations require the minutes of meeting of WYPF Local
Pension Board to be submitted to this committee.

2.

APPENDIX



Minutes of WYPF Local Pension Board 17 December 2019.

Page 2

Minutes of a meeting of the West Yorkshire Pension
Fund Pension Board held on Tuesday, 17 December
2019 at Aldermanbury House, Godwin Street, Bradford
Commenced
Concluded

10.00 am
11.10 am

Present –
Employer Representatives
Councillor S Lal (Chair) – Bradford
Councillor D Jenkins– Leeds
Ms R Manning - Employer

Member Representatives
Mr G Nesbitt – GMB
Mr M Binks – Unison
Mr C Sykes – Unison
Mr M Morris - Unite

Apologies: Councillor Martyn Johnson - Wakefield
Councillor Lal in the Chair
26.

DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST
All those present who were members or beneficiaries of the West Yorkshire
Pension Fund disclosed, in the interests of transparency, an interest in all relevant
business under consideration.
Action: City Solicitor

27.

MINUTES
Resolved –
That the minutes of the meeting held on 8 October 2019 be signed as a
correct record.

28.

INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS
There were no appeals submitted by the public to review decisions to restrict
documents.

29.

REGISTER OF BREACHES OF LAW
The Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund, presented a report
(Document “S”) which informed Members that, in accordance with the
Public Service Pensions Act 2013, from April 2015 all Public Service
Pension Schemes came under the remit of the Pensions Regulator.

21

Page 3

Section 70 of the Pensions Act 2004 (the Act) imposes a requirement to report a
matter to the Pensions Regulator as soon as it is reasonably
practicable where that person had reason to believe that:
(a) A legal duty relating to the administration of the scheme had not been or
was not being complied with, and
(b) The failure to comply was likely to be of material significance to the
Pensions Regulator in the exercise of any of its functions.
A register of any breaches of the Pensions Code of Practice was maintained in
accordance with the Pensions Regulators requirements and WYPF Breaches
Procedure and was appended to the report. The breaches related to the late
payment of contributions and Annual Benefit Statements not issued by 31 August
2019. Members were advised that 99.6% of statements had been issued on time
and that all late contributions had now been received. As the Director, West
Yorkshire Pension Fund, had not deemed that the breaches were of material
significance, they had not been reported to the Pensions Regulator.
It was questioned if the number of employees of the firms who had made late
payments could be included in future reports. It was explained that the sum of the
payments would provide an indication of the number of employees but it was
agreed that a ballpark figure would be provided in future.
Resolved –
That the entries on the Register of Breaches of Law be noted.
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund
30.

THE PENSIONS REGULATOR SCHEME RETURN
Members are aware that, in accordance with the Public Service Pensions Act,
from April 2015 all Public Sector Pension Schemes came under the remit of the
Pension Regulator.
It was explained that the Pensions Regulator (tPR) required all occupational
pension schemes to complete an annual scheme return. The report of the
Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund, (Document “T”) provided an update on
completion of the 2019 tPR scheme return.
Members questioned if their homes addresses must be included in the return and
it was agreed that they would be deleted from Document “T” and that future
returns would include the employment address for those members.
Resolved –
That the report be noted.
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund

22

Page 4

31.

GOOD GOVERNANCE IN THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME
(LGPS)
The Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund, presented a report
(Document “U”) which informed Members that governance in the LGPS was
evolving to accommodate new developments in the last decade, including
oversight by the Pensions Regulator, introduction of Local Pensions Boards,
increasing complexity in scheme benefits and administration, local government
funding cuts and pooling of LGPS investments, which had changed the role of
pension committees, and how LGPS Funds worked with each other.
The Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) had commissioned Hymans Robertson to
examine the effectiveness of current LGPS governance models and to consider
alternatives or enhancements to existing models which could strengthen LGPS
governance going forward. Members were updated on the progress of that
exercise.
A Member reported that consideration of Document “U” had made him question
his own pension knowledge and the contribution he could make to the WYPF
Scheme. He questioned how new appointments to the Joint Advisory Group and
Investment Advisory Panel were communicated to the Pension Board. In
response it was explained that the minutes of both JAG and IAP always recorded
new appointments and were presented to the Pensions Board. It was confirmed
that JAG comprised of three elected members from each of the five authorities
together with trade union representatives and a retired and active member of the
scheme. The IAP included 2 elected members from each of the five authorities
and trade union and retired and active members. All members on those groups
have voting rights.
It was suggested that to increase communication and enhance joint working
arrangements the Chair of the WYPF Pension Board attend the JAG and IAP
meetings as an observer.
Resolved –
That the report be noted.
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund

32.

THE PENSIONS REGULATOR GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
SURVEY AND ENGAGEMENT
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund, (Document “V”)
advised members that the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 introduced new
requirements for the governance and administration of public service pension
schemes and that scheme managers must run their schemes according to those
legal requirements.
A survey had been undertaken in 2015 to assess how schemes were meeting the
new requirements and the standard to which they were being run. Surveys had
also been conducted in 2016, 2017 and 2018 to provide a further assessment of
23

Page 5

performance, understand barriers to improvement and delve deeper into the top
risks of governance, record keeping and communications.
A summary of the 2018 results had been produced by the Pensions Regulator
(tPR) which could be found in the report Governance and Administration survey
2018: Research Report and which was appended to Document V.
TPR had also produced a report - Governance and Administration risks in Public
Sector Pension Schemes.
In addition to the results appended to the report Members were advised that the
Pension Regulator had decided to look at funds in addition to the 10 schemes
which had been the subject of a deeper look into the top risks of governance,
record keeping and communications considered previously. WYPF would now be
included. Written communication had been received from tPR listing a number of
documents to be considered. The necessary information would be collated and
submitted to tPR in the new year. In response to questions it was reported that it
was expected that all information would be submitted by the end of January 2020,
before the required deadline. It was anticipated that the information would be
reviewed; further information and clarity would be sought from tPR and it was
anticipated that process would be followed by a visit from tPR. It was expected
that a report would be published following the Relationship Supervision process.
Only generic results of the 10 previous Relationship Supervision processes had
been published.
It was confirmed that tPR was interested in Pension Board Member training and
Members were urged to complete the tPR tool kit and confirm that this had been
completed to allow that process to be documented.
Members were assured that the process was not intended, or expected; to
uncover bad practice and WYPF welcomed the scrutiny. Feedback from the
process would be provided at the next meeting.
A Member questioned if Annual Benefit Statements could be despatched via
email in the future and he was informed that members would be advised via email
that their benefit statements were available to view on line. There were a number
of members who did not have access to email or the internet and those members
would, on request, continue to be provided with a paper copy.
Resolved –
That the report be noted.
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund
33.

TRAINING, CONFERENCES AND SEMINARS
Members were reminded that training to understand their responsibilities and the
issues they would be dealing with was a very high priority.

24

Page 6

The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund, (Document “W”)
informed Members of training courses, conferences and seminars which may be
of assistance.
Particular attention was drawn to the LGPS Annual Conference, 23-24 January
202O which was taking place in York.
Members were asked to identify any training requirements and it was stressed
that formal generic training or one to one sessions could be arranged.
It was acknowledged that there was a vast amount of experience available to
Members in the WYPF and an invitation was extended for Members to visit the
office or to shadow officers in their roles. It was reiterated that training could be
tailored to individual needs and in a variety of forms.
In addition it was explained that The Pension Regulator toolkit was a free, online
learning programme aimed at trustees of occupational pension schemes. It
included a series of online learning modules and downloadable resources
developed to help Members meet the minimum level of knowledge and
understanding introduced in the Pensions Act 2004. Members were encouraged
to undertake that training and once completed it was requested they provide a
completion certificate to the Technical and Development Manager who could
document that process. It was suggested that officers could go through the
training individually with Members if they wished.
A Member questioned why he was being asked to complete a training analysis
form as he had submitted that information previously. It was explained that the
Technical and Development Manager used that information to ensure Members
were provided with the relevant support to carry out their roles. It was often the
case that over time people’s requirements and understanding of issues would
change and it enabled her to assess members’ needs.
The production of a work plan for the Pension Board was suggested. It was
explained that a plan had already been developed which included regular issues
to be presented to the Pension Board. That plan could be circulated to Members
and include any particular areas of interest they wished to pursue. It was also
suggested that a training plan including objectives and outcomes for the coming
year be considered at the next meeting.
During discussions about governance arrangements and membership of the Joint
Advisory Group, Investment Advisory Group and the Northern LGPS (NLGPS) it
was explained that WYPF were in a unique position and one of a minority of funds
which included trade union and member representatives on those bodies. A
Member reported their lack of understanding of how the NLGPS, JAG and IAP
worked together and it was agreed that training on their composition and
Members responsibilities around those bodies would be provided.

Staff surveys undertaken in other organisations to ascertain any employee
concerns were reported by a Member and it was questioned if similar analyses
were conducted at WYPF. It was reported that the Human Resources function of
Bradford Metropolitan District Council did conduct staff surveys and information
25

Page 7

which could be shared, regarding WYPF employees could be presented to
Members in the future.
The annual member meeting was discussed and it was explained that the content
of that meeting would be included in the annual newsletter to members. It was
stressed that WYPF was one of the few funds which held an annual members
meeting.
It was questioned if officers received training on any new software introduced and
it was clarified that the software had been used for some time with no major
updates recently. Assurances were provided that Intensive training had been
delivered when the software was introduced in 2012.
No resolution was passed on this item.

Chair

Note: These minutes are subject to approval as a correct record at the next meeting
of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Pension Board.

THESE MINUTES HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER

26

Page 8

Agenda Item 7/

Report of external audit (Mazars) to the meeting of
Governance and Audit to be held on 26 March 2020

AC
Subject:
West Yorkshire Pension Fund Audit Strategy Memorandum for the year ending 31 March
2020

Summary statement:
The Audit Strategy Memorandum sets out the plan for the external audit of the Pension
Fund for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Cameron Waddell
Partner
Mazars LLP
Phone: 0191 383 6300
E-mail: cameron.waddell@mazars.co.uk

Page 9

1.

SUMMARY



The Audit Strategy Memorandum sets out our audit plan for 2019/20. The
document:
o describes our approach to the audit of the Pension Fund’s financial
statements;
o includes our assessment of the significant risks of material misstatement in
the financial statements; and
o outlines the proposed testing strategy to address the identified risks.



We have identified significant risks of material misstatement relating to:
o management override of controls, which is common to all entities subject to
audit; and
o the high degree of estimation uncertainty relating to the valuation of
unquoted level 3 investments not quoted in an active market.



We will reporting our findings in relation to these risks to the July Governance and
Audit Committee meeting through our Audit Completion Report.

2.

BACKGROUND



International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) require external auditors to communicate
with Those Charged with Governance (TCWG) on a number of matters (see
Appendix A of the Audit Strategy Memorandum for full details) including significant
audit risks and how the auditor proposes to address them.

3.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS



Not applicable

4.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL



Not applicable

5.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES



Not applicable

6.

LEGAL APPRAISAL



Not applicable

7.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

Page 10

7.1

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY



None

7.2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS



None

7.3

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS



None

7.4

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS



None

7.5

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT



None

7.6

TRADE UNION



None

7.7

WARD IMPLICATIONS



None

7.8

AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)



None

7.9

IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING



None

7.10

ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT



None

8.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS



None

9.

OPTIONS



None

Page 11

10.

RECOMMENDATIONS



That the Governance and Audit Committee considers and approves the Audit
Strategy Memorandum for the West Yorkshire Pension Fund for 2019/20.

11.

APPENDICES



The Audit Strategy Memorandum for the West Yorkshire Pension Fund for the year
ending 31 March 2019.

12.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS



None

Page 12

Audit Strategy Memorandum
West Yorkshire Pension Fund
Year ending 31 March 2020

Page 13

CONTENTS
1.

Engagement and responsibilities summary

2.

Your audit engagement team

3.

Audit scope, approach and timeline

4.

Significant risks and key judgement areas

5.

Fees for audit and other services

6.

Our commitment to independence

7.

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix A – Key communication points
Appendix B - Forthcoming accounting and other issues

This document is to be regarded as confidential to West Yorkshire Pension Fund. It has been prepared for the sole use of the Governance
and Audit Committee as the appropriate sub-committee charged with governance . No responsibility is accepted to any other person in
respect of the whole or part of its contents. Our written consent must first be obtained before this document, or any part of it, is disclosed to a
third party.

2

Page 14

Mazars LLP
5th Floor
3 Wellington Place
Leeds
LS1 4AP
Members of the Governance and Audit Committee
City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council
City Hall
Centenary Square
Bradford
BC1 1HY

26 March 2020

Dear Sirs / Madams
Audit Strategy Memorandum – Year ending 31 March 2020
We are pleased to present our Audit Strategy Memorandum for West Yorkshire Pension Fund for the year ending 31 March 2020
The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit approach, highlight significant audit risks and areas of key judgements and
provide you with the details of our audit team. As it is a fundamental requirement that an auditor is, and is seen to be, independent of its
clients, Section 6 of this document also summarises our considerations and conclusions on our independence as auditors.
We consider two-way communication with you to be key to a successful audit and important in:
• reaching a mutual understanding of the scope of the audit and the responsibilities of each of us;
• sharing information to assist each of us to fulfil our respective responsibilities;
• providing you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; and
• ensuring that we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of your attitude and views in respect of the internal and external
operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing West Yorkshire Pension Fund which may affect the audit, including the
likelihood of those risks materialising and how they are monitored and managed.
This document, which has been prepared following our initial planning discussions with management, is the basis for discussion of our
audit approach, and any questions or input you may have on our approach or role as auditor.
This document also contains specific appendices that outline our key communications with you during the course of the audit, and
forthcoming accounting issues and other issues that may be of interest.

Client service is extremely important to us and we strive to continuously provide technical excellence with the highest level of service
quality, together with continuous improvement to exceed your expectations so, if you have any concerns or comments about this
document or audit approach, please contact me on 0781 375 2053.
Yours faithfully

Cameron Waddell
For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

3

Page 15

1.

ENGAGEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITIES SUMMARY

Overview of engagement
We are appointed to perform the external audit of West Yorkshire Pension Fund (the Fund) for the year to 31 March 2020. The scope of
our engagement is set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies, issued by Public Sector Audit
Appointments Ltd (PSAA) available from the PSAA website: https://www.psaa.co.uk/managing-audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilitiesof-auditors-and-audited-bodies/
Our responsibilities
Our responsibilities are principally derived from the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) and the Code of Audit Practice
issued by the National Audit Office (NAO), as outlined below:

Audit
opinion

We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements.
Our audit is planned and performed so to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material error and give a true and fair view of the financial performance and position of the Fund for the year.

Going
concern
Consistency
report

Fraud

Electors’
rights

We are required to form and express an opinion on the consistency of the financial statements within the Fund’s
annual report and the Fund’s financial statements included in the Statement of Accounts of City of Bradford
Metropolitan District Council.

The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the opportunity to question us
about the accounting records of City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council and consider any objection made
to the accounts. This would include an objection made to the accounts of the Fund included in the administering
authority’s financial statements. We also have a broad range of reporting responsibilities and powers that are
unique to the audit of local authorities in the United Kingdom.

Our audit does not relieve management or those charged with governance, of their responsibilities. The responsibility for safeguarding
assets and for the prevention and detection of fraud, error and non-compliance with law or regulations rests with both those charged with
governance and management. In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), we plan and perform our audit so as to obtain
reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. However our audit should not be relied upon to identify all such misstatements.
As part of our audit procedures in relation to fraud we are required to enquire of those charged with governance as to their knowledge of
instances of fraud, the risk of fraud and their views on management controls that mitigate the fraud risks.
The Fund is required to prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis by the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting. As auditors, we are required to consider the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of
the financial statements and the adequacy of disclosures made.

For the purpose of our audit, we have identified the Governance and Audit Committee as those charged with governance.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

4

Page 16

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

2.

YOUR AUDIT ENGAGEMENT TEAM

[insert
photo or
role]

•
•
•

Cameron Waddell, Engagement Partner
cameron.waddell@mazars.co.uk
07813 752053

[insert
photo or
role]

•
•
•

Sharon Liddle, Engagement Manager
sharon.liddle@mazars.co.uk
07881 283343

•
•
•

Haaris Ismail, Engagement Team Leader
Haaris.ismail@mazars.co.uk
07881 283644

In addition as outlined in our engagement pack an engagement quality control reviewer has been appointed for this engagement.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

5

Page 17

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

3.

AUDIT SCOPE, APPROACH AND TIMELINE

Audit scope
Our audit approach is designed to provide an audit that complies with all professional requirements.
Our audit of the financial statements will be conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), relevant ethical and
professional standards, our own audit approach and in accordance with the terms of our engagement. Our work is focused on those
aspects of your business which we consider to have a higher risk of material misstatement, such as those affected by management
judgement and estimation, application of new accounting standards, changes of accounting policy, changes to operations or areas which
have been found to contain material errors in the past.
Audit approach
Our audit approach is a risk-based approach primarily driven by the risks we consider to result in a higher risk of material misstatement of
the financial statements. Once we have completed our risk assessment, we develop our audit strategy and design audit procedures in
response to this assessment.
If we conclude that appropriately-designed controls are in place then we may plan to test and rely upon these controls. If we decide
controls are not appropriately designed, or we decide it would be more efficient to do so, we may take a wholly substantive approach to
our audit testing. Substantive procedures are audit procedures designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level and
comprise tests of details (of classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures) and substantive analytical procedures.
Irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, which take into account our evaluation of the operating effectiveness of
controls, we are required to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and
disclosure.
Our audit will be planned and performed so as to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement and give a true and fair view. The concept of materiality and how we define a misstatement is explained in more detail in
section 7.
The diagram below outlines the procedures we perform at the different stages of the audit.
•

Final review and disclosure checklist of financial

•

Initial opinion and value for money risk

statements

assessments

•

Final partner and EQCR review

•

•

Agreeing content of letter of representation

•

Reporting to Governance & Audit
Committee

•

Reviewing post balance sheet events

•

Signing our opinion

•

Review of draft financial statements

•

Reassessment of audit strategy,
revising as necessary

•

Delivering our planned audit testing

•

Continuous communication on emerging

Updating our understanding of the Fund
• Considering proposed accounting
treatments and accounting policies

Completion
July 2020

Planning
January to
February 2020

Fieldwork
June and July
2020

Interim
February to May
2020

Development of our audit strategy

•

• Agreement of timetables
•
•
•
•

Preliminary analytical procedures

Documenting systems and controls
Walkthrough procedures
Controls testing, including general
and application IT controls

• Early substantive testing of transactions

issues
•

Clearance meeting

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

6

Page 18

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

3.

AUDIT SCOPE, APPROACH AND TIMELINE (CONTINUED)

Reliance on internal audit
Where possible we will seek to utilise the work performed by internal audit to modify the nature, extent and timing of our audit procedures.
We will meet with internal audit to discuss the progress and findings of their work prior to the commencement of our controls evaluation
procedures.
Where we intend to rely on the work of internal audit, we will evaluate the work performed by your internal audit team and perform our own
audit procedures to determine its adequacy for our audit.
Management’s and our experts
Management makes use of experts in specific areas when preparing the Fund’s financial statements. We also use experts to assist us to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on specific items of account.
Items of account

Management's expert

Our expert

Disclosure notes on funding arrangements
and actuarial present value of promised
retirement benefits.

Aon Hewitt

NAO Consulting actuary PWC

Valuation of level 3 unquoted investments not
traded on active markets

Investment managers

None considered necessary

Service organisations
International Auditing Standards (UK) define service organisations as third party organisations that provide services to the Fund that are
part of its information systems relevant to financial reporting. We are required to obtain an understanding of the services provided by
service organisations as well as evaluating the design and implementation of controls over those services. The table below summarises
the service organisations used by the Fund and our planned audit approach.
Items of account

Service organisation

Audit approach

Valuation of level 3 unquoted investments not
traded on active markets and related
disclosures

Investment managers that provide
valuations of unquoted investments

Substantive procedures

Valuation of stock on loan and related
disclosures

Custodian

Substantive procedures

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

7

Page 19

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

4.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS

Following the risk assessment approach discussed in section 3 of this document, we have identified relevant risks to the audit of financial
statements. The risks that we identify are categorised as significant, enhanced or standard, as defined below:
Significant risk

A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s judgment, requires
special audit consideration. For any significant risk, the auditor shall obtain an understanding of the entity’s controls,
including control activities relevant to that risk.

Enhanced risk

An enhanced risk is an area of higher assessed risk of material misstatement at audit assertion level other than a
significant risk. Enhanced risks incorporate but may not be limited to:

Standard risk

•

key areas of management judgement, including accounting estimates which are material but are not
considered to give rise to a significant risk of material misstatement; and

•

other audit assertion risks arising from significant events or transactions that occurred during the period.

This is related to relatively routine, non-complex transactions that tend to be subject to systematic processing and
require little management judgement. Although it is considered that there is a risk of material misstatement, there are
no elevated or special factors related to the nature, the likely magnitude of the potential misstatements or the
likelihood of the risk occurring.

The summary risk assessment, illustrated in the table below, highlights those risks which we deem to be significant. We have
summarised our audit response to these risks on the next page.
Higher

Risk Likelihood

Risks
1

Management override of controls

2

Valuation of level 3 unquoted investments not
traded on active markets
2

Lower

Higher

Financial impact

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

8

Page 20

1

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

4.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS
(CONTINUED)

We provide more detail on the identified risks and our testing approach with respect to significant risks in the table below. An audit is a
dynamic process, should we change our view of risk or approach to address the identified risks during the course of our audit, we will
report this to the Governance and Audit Committee.
Significant risks

1

Description of risk

Planned response

Management override of controls

We plan to address the management override of controls risk
through performing audit work over accounting estimates, journal
entries and significant transactions outside the normal course of
business or otherwise unusual.

Management at various levels within an organisation
are in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of
their ability to manipulate accounting records and
prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively. Due to the unpredictable way in which
such override could occur there is a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud on all audits.
2

Valuation of level 3 unquoted investments for
which a market price is not readily available

We plan to address this risk by completing the following additional
procedures:

As at 31 March 2019 the fair value of level 3
investments which were not quoted on an active
market was £1.8bn, which accounted for 12.6 per
cent of net investment assets. The values included in
the accounts are based on net asset value or capital
statements provided by external fund managers. This
results in an increased risk of material misstatement.

•

agree the valuation included in the Fund’s underlying financial
systems to supporting documentation, including fund manager
valuation statements and cash flows for any adjustments made to
the fund manager valuation;

•

agree the fund manager valuation to audited accounts or other
independent supporting documentation, where available;

•

where audited accounts are available, check that they are
supported by a clear opinion; and

•

where available, review independent control assurance reports to
identify any exceptions that could present a risk of material
misstatement in the Fund’s financial statements.

Revenue recognition
We have considered the presumed risk under ISA (UK) 240 in relation to revenue recognition, and have determined that there is little
incentive or opportunity to manipulate revenue at the Fund. We therefore rebut this risk and do not incorporate specific risk procedures
over and above our standard fraud procedures to address the management override of controls risk.

Key areas of management judgement
Key areas of management judgement include accounting estimates which are material but are not considered to give rise to a significant
risk of material misstatement. We have not identified any such judgements.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

9

Page 21

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

5.

FEES FOR AUDIT AND OTHER SERVICES

Fees for work as the Fund’s appointed auditor
The scale fee set by PSAA as communicated in our fee letter of 24 April 2019 is £37,380. At this stage we are planning to charge an
additional £3,000 for work we will have to undertake as part of our audit of the 2019/20 financial statements. in relation to the triennial
valuation as at 31 March 2019.
Service

2018/19 fee

Code audit work

2019/20 fee

37,380

40,380

Fees for pension assurance
The fee for Code audit work does not include fees chargeable to the Fund for pension assurance work undertaken at the request of
employer auditors for the year ended 31 March 2019. The total fees chargeable for this assurance is £16,800 .It is expected that the Fund
will recharge these fees to the relevant employers. This approach is in line with the PSAA Terms of Appointment, and the expectation
within NAO’s AGN01 General Guidance Supporting Local Audit.
Fees for non-PSAA work
At this stage we have not been separately engaged by the Fund to carry out additional work.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

10

Page 22

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

6.

OUR COMMITMENT TO INDEPENDENCE

We are committed to independence and are required by the Financial Reporting Council to confirm to you at least annually, in writing, that
we comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard. In addition, we communicate any matters or relationship which we
believe may have a bearing on our independence or the objectivity of the audit team.
Based on the information provided by you and our own internal procedures to safeguard our independence as auditors, we confirm that in
our professional judgement there are no relationships between us and any of our related or subsidiary entities, and you and your related
entities creating any unacceptable threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your
auditors.
We have policies and procedures in place which are designed to ensure that we carry out our work with integrity, objectivity and
independence. These policies include:
•

all partners and staff are required to complete an annual independence declaration;

•

all new partners and staff are required to complete an independence confirmation and also complete computer-based ethics training;

•

rotation policies covering audit engagement partners and other key members of the audit team;

•

use by managers and partners of our client and engagement acceptance system which requires all non-audit services to be approved
in advance by the audit engagement partner.

We confirm, as at the date of this document, that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, and Mazars LLP are
independent and comply with relevant ethical requirements. However, if at any time you have concerns or questions about our integrity,
objectivity or independence please discuss these with Cameron Waddell in the first instance.
Prior to the provision of any non-audit services Cameron will undertake appropriate procedures to consider and fully assess the impact
that providing the service may have on our auditor independence. Included in this assessment is consideration of Auditor Guidance Note
01 as issued by the NAO, and the PSAA Terms of Appointment.

No threats to our independence have been identified.
Any emerging independence threats and associated identified safeguards will be communicated in our Audit Completion Report.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

11

Page 23

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

7.

MATERIALITY AND MISSTATEMENTS

Summary of initial materiality thresholds
Threshold

Initial threshold (£m)

Overall materiality

£152.7

Performance materiality

£122.2

Specific materiality:

£63.7

Fund account overall materiality
Fund account performance materiality

£50.1

Materiality
Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Governance and
Audit Committee

£4.6

Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of financial statements as a
whole. Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
Judgements on materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances and are affected by the size and nature of a misstatement, or a
combination of both. Judgements about materiality are based on consideration of the common financial information needs of users as a
group and not on specific individual users.
The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of the financial information
needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume that users:
•

have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts;

•

have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

•

understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

•

recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, judgement and the consideration
of future events; and

•

will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors.
Whilst planning, we make judgements about the size of misstatements which we consider to be material and which provides a basis for
determining the nature, timing and extent of risk assessment procedures, identifying and assessing the risk of material misstatement and
determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.
The materiality determined at the planning stage does not necessarily establish an amount below which uncorrected misstatements, either
individually or in aggregate, will be considered as immaterial.
We revise materiality for the financial statements as our audit progresses should we become aware of information that would have caused
us to determine a different amount had we been aware of that information at the planning stage.
Our provisional materiality is set based on a benchmark of net assets. We will identify a figure for materiality but identify separate levels
for procedures designed to detect individual errors, and also a level above which all identified errors will be reported to the Governance
and Audit Committee.
1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

12

Page 24

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

7.

MATERIALITY AND MISSTATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We consider that net assets remains the key focus of users of the financial statements and, as such, we base our materiality levels around
this benchmark.
We expect to set a materiality threshold at 1% of net assets.
Based on the value of investment assets at 30th September 2019 we anticipate the overall materiality for the year ending 31st March 2020
to be in the region of £152.7m ( £143.6m in the prior year).
After setting initial materiality, we continue to monitor materiality throughout the audit to ensure that it is set at an appropriate level.
Performance Materiality
Performance materiality is the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the financial statements as a whole to
reduce, to an appropriately low level, the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality
for the financial statements as a whole. Our initial assessment of performance materiality is based on low inherent risk, meaning that we
have applied 80% of overall materiality as performance materiality.
Misstatements
We aggregate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial. We set a level of triviality for individual errors
identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Governance and Audit Committee that is consistent with the level of triviality that we
consider would not need to be accumulated because we expect that the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material effect
on the financial statements. Based on our preliminary assessment of overall materiality, our proposed triviality threshold is £4.6m based
on 3% of overall materiality. If you have any queries about this please do not hesitate to raise these with Cameron Waddell.
Reporting to the Governance and Audit Committee
To comply with International Standards on Auditing (UK), the following three types of audit differences will be presented to the
Governance and Audit Committee:
•

summary of adjusted audit differences;

•

summary of unadjusted audit differences; and

•

summary of disclosure differences (adjusted and unadjusted).

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

13

Page 25

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

APPENDIX A – KEY COMMUNICATION POINTS
ISA (UK) 260 ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’, ISA (UK) 265 ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To
Those Charged With Governance And Management’ and other ISAs (UK) specifically require us to communicate the following:
Required communication

Audit Strategy
Memorandum

Our responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements and our wider
responsibilities



Planned scope and timing of the audit



Significant audit risks and areas of management judgement



Our commitment to independence



Responsibilities for preventing and detecting errors



Materiality and misstatements



Fees for audit and other services



Audit Completion
Report




Significant deficiencies in internal control



Significant findings from the audit



Significant matters discussed with management



Our conclusions on the significant audit risks and areas of management judgement



Summary of misstatements



Management representation letter



Our proposed draft audit report



1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Fees

14

Page 26

6.
Independence

7. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

APPENDIX B – FORTHCOMING ACCOUNTING AND OTHER
ISSUES
Financial reporting changes relevant to 2019/20
There are no significant changes in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting for the 2019/20 financial year.
Financial reporting changes in future years
Accounting standard
IFRS 16 – Leases

Year of application
2020/21

Commentary
The CIPFA/LASAAC Code Board has determined that the Code of Practice
on Local Authority Accounting will adopt the principles of IFRS 16 Leases,
for the first time from 2020/21.
IFRS 16 will replace the existing leasing standard, IAS 17, and will introduce
significant changes to the way bodies account for leases, which will have
substantial implications for the majority of public sector bodies.
The most significant changes will be in respect of lessee accounting (i.e.
where a body leases property or equipment from another entity). The
existing distinction between operating and finance leases will be removed
and instead, the new standard will require a right of use asset and an
associated lease liability to be recognised on the lessee’s Balance Sheet.
Although the number of leases the Fund is party to is expected to be low, it
is important that work is undertaken to identify and assess all leases,
particularly any implicit within a service contract..

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

Page 27

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8/

Report of external audit (Mazars) to the meeting of
Governance and Audit to be held on 26 March 2020

AD
Subject:
External Audit – Audit Strategy Memorandum (ASM) 2019/20

Summary statement:
This report sets out the plan for the external audit of the Council for financial year 2019/20.

Cameron Waddell
Partner
Mazars LLP
Phone: 0191 383 6300
E-mail: cameron.waddell@mazars.co.uk

Page 29

1.

SUMMARY

The Audit Strategy Memorandum sets out our audit plan for 2019/20. The document:





describes our approach to the audit of the Council’s financial statements;
includes our assessment of the significant risks of material misstatement in the
financial statements; and
outlines the proposed testing strategy to address the identified risks.

The Audit Strategy Memorandum also sets out our approach to our Value for Money work,
sufficient to enable us to form a conclusion as to whether the Council has made proper
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.
2.

BACKGROUND

International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) require external auditors to communicate with
Those Charged with Governance (TCWG) on a number of matters including significant
audit risks and how the auditor proposes to address them.
3.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS



Not applicable

4.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL



Not applicable

5.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES



Not applicable

6.

LEGAL APPRAISAL



Not applicable

7.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY



None

Page 30

7.2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS



None

7.3

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS



None

7.4

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS



None

7.5

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT



None

7.6

TRADE UNION



None

7.7

WARD IMPLICATIONS



None

7.8

AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)



None

7.9

IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING



None

7.10

ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT



None

8.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS



None

9.

OPTIONS



None

10.

RECOMMENDATIONS



Members of the Committee note and consider and approve the ASM.

11.

APPENDICES

Page 31



Audit Strategy Memorandum 2019/20

12.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS



None

Page 32

Audit Strategy Memorandum

City of Bradford Metropolitan District
Council
Year ending 31 March 2020

Page 33

CONTENTS
1.

Engagement and responsibilities summary

2.

Your audit engagement team

3.

Audit scope, approach and timeline

4.

Significant risks and key judgement areas

5.

Value for Money

6.

Fees for audit and other services

7.

Our commitment to independence

8.

Materiality and misstatements

Appendix A – Key communication points
Appendix B - Forthcoming accounting and other issues

This document is to be regarded as confidential to City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council. It has been prepared for the sole use of the
Governance and Audit Committee. No responsibility is accepted to any other person in respect of the whole or part of its contents. Our
written consent must first be obtained before this document, or any part of it, is disclosed to a third party.

2

Page 34

Mazars LLP

5th Floor
3 Wellington Place
Leeds
LS1 4AP

Governance and Audit Committee
City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council
City Hall
Norfolk Gardens
Bradford
BD1 1UH

March 2020

Dear Sirs / Madams
Audit Strategy Memorandum – Year ending 31 March 2020
We are pleased to present our Audit Strategy Memorandum for City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council for the year ending 31
March 2020
The purpose of this document is to summarise our audit approach, highlight significant audit risks and areas of key judgements and
provide you with the details of our audit team. As it is a fundamental requirement that an auditor is, and is seen to be, independent of its
clients, Section 7 of this document also summarises our considerations and conclusions on our independence as auditors.
We consider two-way communication with you to be key to a successful audit and important in:
• reaching a mutual understanding of the scope of the audit and the responsibilities of each of us;
• sharing information to assist each of us to fulfil our respective responsibilities;
• providing you with constructive observations arising from the audit process; and
• ensuring that we, as external auditors, gain an understanding of your attitude and views in respect of the internal and external
operational, financial, compliance and other risks facing City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council which may affect the
audit, including the likelihood of those risks materialising and how they are monitored and managed.
This document, which has been prepared following our initial planning discussions with management, is the basis for discussion of our
audit approach, and any questions or input you may have on our approach or role as auditor.
This document also contains specific appendices that outline our key communications with you during the course of the audit, and
forthcoming accounting issues and other issues that may be of interest.
Client service is extremely important to us and we strive to continuously provide technical excellence with the highest level of service
quality, together with continuous improvement to exceed your expectations so, if you have any concerns or comments about this
document or audit approach, please contact me on 0781 375 2053.
Yours faithfully

Cameron Waddell

For and on behalf of Mazars LLP

3

Page 35

1.

ENGAGEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITIES SUMMARY

Overview of engagement
We are appointed to perform the external audit of the City of Bradford Metropolitan Council (the Council) for the year to 31 March 2020.
The scope of our engagement is set out in the Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies, issued by Public Sector Audit
Appointments Ltd (PSAA) available from the PSAA website: https://www.psaa.co.uk/audit-quality/statement-of-responsibilities/
Our responsibilities
Our responsibilities are principally derived from the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (the 2014 Act) and the Code of Audit Practice
issued by the National Audit Office (NAO), as outlined below:

We are responsible for forming and expressing an opinion on the financial statements.
Audit
opinion

Our audit is planned and performed so to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free
from material error and give a true and fair view of the financial performance and position of the Council for the
year.

Value
for
Going
concern
Money

We are required to conclude whether the Council has proper arrangements in place to secure economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in it its use of resources. We discuss our approach to Value for Money work further
in section 5 of this report.

Reporting
to the
NAO

We report to the NAO on the consistency of the Council’s financial statements with its Whole of Government
Accounts (WGA) submission.

Fraud

Electors’
rights

The 2014 Act requires us to give an elector, or any representative of the elector, the opportunity to question us
about the accounting records of the Council and consider any objection made to the accounts. We also have a
broad range of reporting responsibilities and powers that are unique to the audit of local authorities in the United
Kingdom.

Our audit does not relieve management or those charged with governance, of their responsibilities. The responsibility for safeguarding
assets and for the prevention and detection of fraud, error and non-compliance with law or regulations rests with both those charged with
governance and management. In accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), we plan and perform our audit so as to obtain
reasonable assurance that the financial statements taken as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error. However our audit should not be relied upon to identify all such misstatements.
As part of our audit procedures in relation to fraud we are required to enquire of those charged with governance as to their knowledge of
instances of fraud, the risk of fraud and their views on management controls that mitigate the fraud risks.
The Council is required to prepare its financial statements on a going concern basis by the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting. As auditors, we are required to consider the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of
the financial statements and the adequacy of disclosures made.
For the purpose of our audit, we have identified the Governance and Audit Committee as those charged with governance.
1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

4

Page 36

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

2.

YOUR AUDIT ENGAGEMENT TEAM

Engagement
Partner

Engagement
Manager

Engagement
Team
Leader

•
•
•

Cameron Waddell – Partner
cameron.waddell@mazars.co.uk
0191 383 6314

•
•
•

Mark Outterside – Senior Manager
Mark.Outterside@mazars.co.uk
07824 086 593

•
•
•

Abi Medic - Assistant Manager
abi.medic@mazars.co.uk
07881 283 644

In addition as outlined in our engagement pack an engagement quality control reviewer has been appointed for this engagement.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

5

Page 37

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

3.

AUDIT SCOPE, APPROACH AND TIMELINE

Audit scope
Our audit approach is designed to provide an audit that complies with all professional requirements.
Our audit of the financial statements will be conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK), relevant ethical and
professional standards, our own audit approach and in accordance with the terms of our engagement. Our work is focused on those
aspects of your business which we consider to have a higher risk of material misstatement, such as those affected by management
judgement and estimation, application of new accounting standards, changes of accounting policy, changes to operations or areas which
have been found to contain material errors in the past.
Audit approach
Our audit approach is a risk-based approach primarily driven by the risks we consider to result in a higher risk of material misstatement of
the financial statements. Once we have completed our risk assessment, we develop our audit strategy and design audit procedures in
response to this assessment.
If we conclude that appropriately-designed controls are in place then we may plan to test and rely upon these controls. If we decide
controls are not appropriately designed, or we decide it would be more efficient to do so, we may take a wholly substantive approach to
our audit testing. Substantive procedures are audit procedures designed to detect material misstatements at the assertion level and
comprise tests of details (of classes of transactions, account balances, and disclosures) and substantive analytical procedures.
Irrespective of the assessed risks of material misstatement, which take into account our evaluation of the operating effectiveness of
controls, we are required to design and perform substantive procedures for each material class of transactions, account balance, and
disclosure.
Our audit will be planned and performed so as to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material
misstatement and give a true and fair view. The concept of materiality and how we define a misstatement is explained in more detail in
section 8.
The diagram below outlines the procedures we perform at the different stages of the audit.
•

Final review and disclosure checklist of financial

•

Initial opinion and value for money risk

statements

assessments

•

Final partner and EQCR review

•

Updating our understanding of the Council

•

Agreeing content of letter of representation

•

Walkthrough procedures

•

Reporting to Governance and Audit
Committee

•

Reviewing post balance sheet events

•

Signing our opinion

•

Review of draft financial statements

•

Reassessment of audit strategy,
revising as necessary

•

Delivering our planned audit testing

•

Continuous communication on emerging

Development of our audit strategy

•
Completion
July 2020

Planning
Jan 2020

Fieldwork
June 2020

Interim
Feb/March 2020

•

•
•

Preliminary analytical procedures

Documenting systems and controls
Controls testing, including general
and application IT controls

• Early substantive testing of transactions

issues
•

Clearance meeting

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

6

Page 38

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

3.

AUDIT SCOPE, APPROACH AND TIMELINE (CONTINUED)

Reliance on internal audit
Where possible we will seek to utilise the work performed by internal audit to modify the nature, extent and timing of our audit procedures.
We will meet with internal audit to discuss the progress and findings of their work prior to the commencement of our controls evaluation
procedures.
We are not planning to rely on the work of internal audit, but should we do so, we would evaluate the work performed by your internal audit
team and perform our own audit procedures to determine its adequacy for our audit.
Management’s and our experts
Management makes use of experts in specific areas when preparing the Council’s financial statements. We also use experts to assist us
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence on specific items of account.
Items of account

Management's expert

Our expert

Defined benefit liability

AON Hewitt Actuaries

PwC, consulting actuary on behalf of
the National Audit Office (NAO).

Property, plant and equipment valuation

Council’s valuer

We will take into account relevant
information which is available from
third parties, relevant to valuations.

Financial instrument disclosures

Link Assets Services

n/a

Service organisations
International Auditing Standards (UK) define service organisations as third party organisations that provide services to the Council that are
part of its information systems relevant to financial reporting. We are required to obtain an understanding of the services provided by
service organisations as well as evaluating the design and implementation of controls over those services. The table below summarises
the service organisations used by the Council and our planned audit approach.
Items of account

Service organisation

Audit approach

Schools Payroll

Data-plan and Working for Schools. These
are the two material providers.

Sufficient appropriate audit evidence is
held at schools for us to substantively
test schools’ external payroll without
contacting the service organisations.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

7

Page 39

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

4.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS

Following the risk assessment approach discussed in section 3 of this document, we have identified relevant risks to the audit of financial
statements. The risks that we identify are categorised as significant, enhanced or standard, as defined below:
Significant risk

A significant risk is an identified and assessed risk of material misstatement that, in the auditor’s judgment, requires
special audit consideration. For any significant risk, the auditor shall obtain an understanding of the entity’s controls,
including control activities relevant to that risk.

Enhanced risk

An enhanced risk is an area of higher assessed risk of material misstatement at audit assertion level other than a
significant risk. Enhanced risks incorporate but may not be limited to:

Standard risk

•

key areas of management judgement, including accounting estimates which are material but are not
considered to give rise to a significant risk of material misstatement; and

•

other audit assertion risks arising from significant events or transactions that occurred during the period.

This is related to relatively routine, non-complex transactions that tend to be subject to systematic processing and
require little management judgement. Although it is considered that there is a risk of material misstatement, there are
no elevated or special factors related to the nature, the likely magnitude of the potential misstatements or the
likelihood of the risk occurring.

The summary risk assessment, illustrated in the table below, highlights those risks which we deem to be significant. We have
summarised our audit response to these risks on the next page.

Risk Likelihood

Higher

Property, plant and equipment
valuation

2

Defined pension liability
valuation

3

Management override
of controls

1
Lower

Higher

Financial impact

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

8

Page 40

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

4.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS
(CONTINUED)

We provide more detail on the identified risks and our testing approach with respect to significant risks in the table below. An audit is a
dynamic process; should we change our view of risk or approach to address the identified risks during the course of our audit, we will
report this to the Governance and Audit Committee.
Significant risks

1

Description of risk

Planned response

Management override of controls

We plan to address the management override of controls risk
through performing audit work over accounting estimates, journal
entries and significant transactions outside the normal course of
business or otherwise unusual.

Management at various levels within an organisation
are in a unique position to perpetrate fraud because of
their ability to manipulate accounting records and
prepare fraudulent financial statements by overriding
controls that otherwise appear to be operating
effectively. Due to the unpredictable way in which
such override could occur there is a risk of material
misstatement due to fraud on all audits.
2

Property, plant and equipment valuation
The CIPFA Code requires that where assets are
subject to revaluation, their year end carrying value
should reflect the appropriate fair value at that date.
The Council has adopted a rolling revaluation model
which sees all land and buildings revalued over a five
year cycle. Investment property is valued annually to
ensure it reflects market conditions at year end.
The Council employs an internal valuation expert to
provide information on valuations. There is a high
degree of estimation uncertainty associated with the
valuation of PPE due to the significant judgements
and number of variables involved in providing
valuations.
In addition, as a result of the rolling programme of
revaluations, there is a risk that individual assets
which have not been revalued for up to four years are
not materiality fairly stated at their fair value.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

We will consider the Council’s arrangements for ensuring that PPE
values are reasonable and will consider corroborative evidence to
enable us to assess the reasonableness of the valuations provided by
the Council’s in-house valuer. We will also assess the competence,
skills and experience of the valuer.
In relation to the assets which have been revalued during 2019/20 we
will review the valuation methodology used, including testing the
underlying data and assumptions. We will compare the valuation
output with market intelligence, to obtain assurance that the
valuations are in line with market expectations.
We will review the approach that the Council has adopted to address
the risk that assets not subject to valuation in 2019/20 are materially
misstated and consider the robustness of that approach in light of the
valuation information reported by the Council’s in house valuers.
In addition, we will consider movement in market indices between
revaluation dates and the year end in order to determine whether
these indicate that fair values have moved materially over that time.

5. Value for
Money

9

Page 41

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

4.

3

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS
(CONTINUED)
Description of risk

Planned response

Defined benefit liability valuation

As part of our work we will review the controls that the Council has in
place over the information sent to the Scheme Actuary, including the
Council’s process and controls with respect to the assumptions used
in the valuation. We will also evaluate the competency, objectivity and
independence of the scheme Actuary, AON Hewitt.

The net pension liability represents a material
element of the Council’s balance sheet. The Council
is an admitted body of the West Yorkshire Pension
Fund, which had its last triennial valuation completed
as at 31 March 2019.
The valuation of the Local Government Pension
Scheme relies on a number of assumptions, most
notably around the actuarial assumptions, and
actuarial methodology which results in the Council’s
overall valuation.

We will review the appropriateness of the methodology applied, and
the key assumptions included within the valuation, compare them to
expected ranges, utilising the information provided by PwC,
consulting actuary engaged by the National Audit Office. We will
review the methodology applied in the valuation of the liability by AON
Hewitt.

There are financial assumptions and demographic
assumptions used in the calculation of the Council’s
valuation, such as the discount rate, inflation rates
and mortality rates. The assumptions should also
reflect the profile of the Council’s employees, and
should be based on appropriate data. The basis of
the assumptions is derived on a consistent basis
year to year, or updated to reflect any changes.
There is a risk that the assumptions and
methodology used in valuing the Council’s pension
obligation are not reasonable or appropriate to the
Council’s circumstances. This could have a material
impact to the net pension liability in 2019/20.

Revenue recognition

International Auditing Standard (ISA) 240 includes a rebuttable presumption that the fraud risk from revenue recognition is a significant
audit risk.
We recognise that the nature of revenue in local government differs significantly to the sources of income in the private sector which have
driven the requirement in the ISA. We also note that the incentives in local government include the requirement to meet regulatory and
financial covenants rather than share based management concerns.
Based on our understanding of the Council’s revenue streams and consistent with the prior year (2018/19) we do not consider this to be a
significant risk. We have therefore rebutted this risk and do not incorporate specific work into our audit approach in this area over and
above our standard procedures.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

10

Page 42

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

4.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS AND KEY JUDGEMENT AREAS
(CONTINUED)

Key areas of management judgement and enhanced risks
Key areas of management judgement include accounting estimates which are material but are not considered to give rise to a significant
risk of material misstatement. These areas of management judgement represent other areas of audit emphasis.

1

Area of management judgement / enhanced risk

Planned response

Accounting for PFI

We will review the Council’s adopted approach for accounting for its
PFI assets including reviewing any changes to the long term financial
model used.

The method of accounting for PFI assets can be
complex and involve management judgement.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

11

Page 43

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

5.

VALUE FOR MONEY

Our approach to Value for Money
We are required to form a conclusion as to whether the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources. The NAO issues guidance to auditors that underpins the work we are required to carry out, and sets
out the overall criterion and sub-criteria that we are required to consider.
The overall criterion is that, ‘in all significant respects, the Council had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly informed decisions
and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.’
To assist auditors in reaching a conclusion on this overall criterion, the following sub-criteria are set out by the NAO:
• informed decision making;
• sustainable resource deployment; and
• working with partners and other third parties.
A summary of the work we undertake to reach our conclusion is provided below:
Risk mitigation work

Risk assessment

Other procedures

NAO Guidance

Consider the work of regulators

Sector-wide issues
Your operational and business
risks

Planned procedures to mitigate
the risk of forming an incorrect
conclusion on arrangements

Consider the Annual
Governance Statement
Consistency review and reality
check

Knowledge from other audit work

Significant Value for Money risks
The NAO’s guidance requires us to carry out work at the planning stage to identify whether or not a Value for Money (VFM) exists. Risk,
in the context of our VFM work, is the risk that we come to an incorrect conclusion rather than the risk of the arrangements in place at the
Council being inadequate. As outlined above, we draw on our deep understanding of the Council and its partners, the local and national
economy and wider knowledge of the public sector.
For the 2019/20 financial year, we have identified the following significant risk(s) to our VFM work:
Description of significant risk

Planned response

Financial sustainability
As in previous years, the Council continues to face significant financial
challenges. In July 2019 the Council updated its medium term financial strategy
for the period up to 2022/23, highlighting significant challenges faced by the
Council. As at period 7, the Council is projecting a budget overspend of £1.3m,
predicated by the delivery of £16.1m of savings. This challenging financial
environment increases pressure of service delivery and could result in the
increased reliance on reserves to achieve the Council’s planned financial
position.
The continuing challenges the Council faces are not new and are not unique to
the City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council. However, the challenges do
present a significant audit risk in respect of considering the arrangements that
the Council has in place to deliver financially sustainability over the medium
term.
1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

12

Page 44

Building on our work in previous years, we will
review the arrangements the Council has in
place for ensuring financial resilience.
Specifically that the medium term financial plan
has taken into consideration factors such as
funding reductions, salary and general inflation,
demand pressures, restructuring costs and
sensitivity analysis given the degree of variability
in the above factors. We will also review the
arrangements in place to monitor progress in
delivering the budget and related savings plans.

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

5.

VALUE FOR MONEY CONCLUSION

Significant risks (continued)

2

Description of significant VFM risk

Planned response

Ofsted inspection: children’s social care services

We will consider the progress made by
the Council in response to the Ofsted
report at the point we give our VFM
conclusion.

In seeking to satisfy ourselves that the Council has made proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, we are
required to consider the reports issued by other regulators.
In October 2018, Ofsted reported the results of an inspection of children’s social
care services and concluded that the overall effectiveness of these services was
inadequate.

This will include any updated
commentary from the regulator.

Since this report was published, Ofsted has completed monitoring visits and in their
latest letter to the Council (December 2019) they have highlighted that the service
still has improvements to make to achieve its own targets.
We therefore consider there to be a risk that the Council does not put in place
proper arrangements to secure improvements to the service in a timely manner.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
money
conclusion

13

Page 45

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

6.

FEES FOR AUDIT AND OTHER SERVICES

Fees for work as the Council’s appointed auditor
At this stage of the audit we are not planning any divergence from the scale fees set by PSAA as communicated in our fee letter.
Service

2018/19 fee

2019/20 fee

£142,694

£142,694

Additional work in response to questions from electors.

-

To be agreed

Additional work in response to regulatory recommendations to increase level
of audit work on defined benefit liability schemes.

-

To be agreed

Additional work in response to regulatory recommendations to increase level
of audit work on the valuation of property plant and equipment.

-

To be agreed

£142,69

To be agreed

Code audit work – scale fee

Total

In common with other local government external auditors. we are required to carry out additional procedures which were not expected
when fees were set. The table above lists the areas where we expect to complete additional work 2019/20.
Fees for non-PSAA work
In addition to the fees outlined above in relation to our appointment by PSAA, we have been separately engaged by the Council to carry
out additional work as set out in the table below. Before agreeing to undertake any additional work we consider whether there are any
actual, potential or perceived threats to our independence. Further information about our responsibilities in relation to independence is
provided in section 7.
Service
Other services - Housing Benefits Subsidy Assurance

2018/19 fee

2019/20 fee

£9,201

£9,210

Fees for non-PSAA work at West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF).
In 2018-19 Mazars completed an engagement to deliver a ‘assurance report on controls at a service organisation’ (ISAE3402) at WYPF.
The total fee for this work was £10,500 and the PSAA confirmed there were no independence threats at the Pension Fund or Council.
In 2019-20 Mazars were invited to complete another ISAE3402 engagement at WYPF, with a proposed fee of circa £40,000. However, the
firm is consulting to confirm if it is able to deliver this work under the PSAA fees framework.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

14

Page 46

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

7.

OUR COMMITMENT TO INDEPENDENCE

We are committed to independence and are required by the Financial Reporting Council to confirm to you at least annually, in writing, that
we comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard. In addition, we communicate any matters or relationship which we
believe may have a bearing on our independence or the objectivity of the audit team.
Based on the information provided by you and our own internal procedures to safeguard our independence as auditors, we confirm that in
our professional judgement there are no relationships between us and any of our related or subsidiary entities, and you and your related
entities creating any unacceptable threats to our independence within the regulatory or professional requirements governing us as your
auditors.
We have policies and procedures in place which are designed to ensure that we carry out our work with integrity, objectivity and
independence. These policies include:
•

all partners and staff are required to complete an annual independence declaration;

•

all new partners and staff are required to complete an independence confirmation and also complete computer-based ethics training;

•

rotation policies covering audit engagement partners and other key members of the audit team;

•

use by managers and partners of our client and engagement acceptance system which requires all non-audit services to be approved
in advance by the audit engagement partner.

We confirm, as at the date of this document, that the engagement team and others in the firm as appropriate, and Mazars LLP are
independent and comply with relevant ethical requirements. However, if at any time you have concerns or questions about our integrity,
objectivity or independence please discuss these with Cameron Waddell in the first instance.
Prior to the provision of any non-audit services Cameron Waddell will undertake appropriate procedures to consider and fully assess the
impact that providing the service may have on our auditor independence. Included in this assessment is consideration of Auditor
Guidance Note 01 as issued by the NAO, and the PSAA Terms of Appointment.
Issue

Our response

Housing benefit subsidy certification

We have considered threats and safeguards as follows:
•

Self Review: The work does not involve the preparation of information
that has a material impact upon the financial statements subject to
audit by Mazars;

•

Self Interest: The total fee level is not deemed to be material to the
Council or Mazars. The work undertaken is not paid on a contingency
basis;

•

Management: The work does not involve Mazars making any
decisions on behalf of management;

•

Advocacy: The work does not involve Mazars advocating the Council
to third parties;

•

Familiarity: Work is not deemed to give rise to a familiarity threat
given this piece of assurance work used to fall under the Audit
Commission / PSAA certification regimes and was the responsibility
of the Council’s appointed auditor; and

•

Intimidation: The nature of the work does not give rise to any
intimidation threat from management to Mazars.

Any emerging independence threats and associated identified safeguards will be communicated in our Audit Completion Report.
1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

15

Page 47

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

8.

MATERIALITY AND MISSTATEMENTS

Summary of initial materiality thresholds
Threshold (set at planning)

Initial threshold (£’000s)

Overall materiality

£22,812

Performance materiality

£17,109

Trivial threshold for errors to be reported to the Governance and Audit Committee

£685

Materiality
Materiality is an expression of the relative significance or importance of a particular matter in the context of financial statements as a
whole. Misstatements in financial statements are considered to be material if they, individually or in aggregate, could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
Judgements on materiality are made in light of surrounding circumstances and are affected by the size and nature of a misstatement, or a
combination of both. Judgements about materiality are based on consideration of the common financial information needs of users as a
group and not on specific individual users.
The assessment of what is material is a matter of professional judgement and is affected by our perception of the financial information
needs of the users of the financial statements. In making our assessment we assume that users:
•

have a reasonable knowledge of business, economic activities and accounts;

•

have a willingness to study the information in the financial statements with reasonable diligence;

•

understand that financial statements are prepared, presented and audited to levels of materiality;

•

recognise the uncertainties inherent in the measurement of amounts based on the use of estimates, judgement and the consideration
of future events; and

•

will make reasonable economic decisions on the basis of the information in the financial statements.

We consider materiality whilst planning and performing our audit based on quantitative and qualitative factors.
Whilst planning, we make judgements about the size of misstatements which we consider to be material and which provides a basis for
determining the nature, timing and extent of risk assessment procedures, identifying and assessing the risk of material misstatement and
determining the nature, timing and extent of further audit procedures.
The materiality determined at the planning stage does not necessarily establish an amount below which uncorrected misstatements, either
individually or in aggregate, will be considered as immaterial.
We revise materiality for the financial statements as our audit progresses should we become aware of information that would have caused
us to determine a different amount had we been aware of that information at the planning stage.
Our provisional materiality is set based on a benchmark of 2% (1.8% in 2018/19) of gross expenditure totalling £1,140,601(k) per your
2018/19 audited financial statements. We will identify a figure for materiality but identify separate levels for procedures designed to detect
individual errors, and also a level above which all identified errors will be reported to the Governance and Audit Committee.
We consider that expenditure remains the key focus of users of the financial statements and, as such, we base our materiality levels
around this benchmark.
At year-end we expect to set a materiality threshold at 2% of gross expenditure, per your draft 2019/20 financial statements.
1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

16

Page 48

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

8.

MATERIALITY AND MISSTATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

After setting initial materiality, we continue to monitor materiality throughout the audit to ensure that it is set at an appropriate level.
Performance Materiality
Performance materiality is the amount or amounts set by the auditor at less than materiality for the financial statements as a whole to
reduce, to an appropriately low level, the probability that the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected misstatements exceeds materiality
for the financial statements as a whole. Our initial assessment of performance materiality is based on low inherent risk, meaning that we
have applied 75% of overall materiality as performance materiality.
We have also calculated materiality for specific classes of transactions, balances or disclosures where we determine that misstatements
of a lesser amount than materiality for the financial statements as a whole, could reasonably be expected to influence the decisions of
users taken on the basis of the financial statements. We have set specific materiality for the following items of account:
Item of account

Specific materiality (£’000s)

Senior Officers' remuneration (including exit packages)

£5

Members’ allowances

£50

Related party transaction

£50

After setting initial materiality, we continue to monitor materiality throughout the audit to ensure that it is set at an appropriate level.
Misstatements
We aggregate misstatements identified during the audit that are other than clearly trivial. We set a level of triviality for individual errors
identified (a reporting threshold) for reporting to the Governance and Audit Committee that is consistent with the level of triviality that we
consider would not need to be accumulated because we expect that the accumulation of such amounts would not have a material effect
on the financial statements. Based on our preliminary assessment of overall materiality, our proposed triviality threshold is £685,000
based on 3% of overall materiality. If you have any queries about this please do not hesitate to raise these with Cameron Waddell.
Reporting to the Governance and Audit Committee
To comply with International Standards on Auditing (UK), the following three types of audit differences will be presented to the
Governance and Audit Committee:
•

summary of adjusted audit differences;

•

summary of unadjusted audit differences; and

•

summary of disclosure differences (adjusted and unadjusted).

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

17

Page 49

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

APPENDIX A – KEY COMMUNICATION POINTS
ISA (UK) 260 ‘Communication with Those Charged with Governance’, ISA (UK) 265 ‘Communicating Deficiencies In Internal Control To
Those Charged With Governance And Management’ and other ISAs (UK) specifically require us to communicate the following:
Required communication

Audit Strategy
Memorandum

Our responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements and our wider
responsibilities



Planned scope and timing of the audit



Significant audit risks and areas of management judgement



Our commitment to independence



Responsibilities for preventing and detecting errors



Materiality and misstatements



Fees for audit and other services



Audit Completion
Report




Significant deficiencies in internal control



Significant findings from the audit



Significant matters discussed with management



Our conclusions on the significant audit risks and areas of management judgement



Summary of misstatements



Management representation letter



Our proposed draft audit report



1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

18

Page 50

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

APPENDIX B – FORTHCOMING ACCOUNTING AND OTHER
ISSUES
Financial reporting changes relevant to 2019/20
There are no significant changes in the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting for the 2019/20 financial year.

Financial reporting changes in future years
Accounting standard
IFRS 16 – Leases

Year of application
2020/21

Commentary
The CIPFA/LASAAC Code Board has determined that the Code of Practice
on Local Authority Accounting will adopt the principles of IFRS 16 Leases,
for the first time from 2020/21.
IFRS 16 will replace the existing leasing standard, IAS 17, and will introduce
significant changes to the way bodies account for leases, which will have
substantial implications for the majority of public sector bodies.
The most significant changes will be in respect of lessee accounting (i.e.
where a body leases property or equipment from another entity). The
existing distinction between operating and finance leases will be removed
and instead, the new standard will require a right of use asset and an
associated lease liability to be recognised on the lessee’s Balance Sheet.
In order to meet the requirements of IFRS 16, all local authorities will need
to undertake a significant project that is likely to be time-consuming and
potentially complex. There will also be consequential impacts upon capital
financing arrangements at many authorities which will need to be identified
and addressed at an early stage of the project.

1. Engagement and
responsibilities

2. Your audit
team

3. Audit scope

4. Significant
risks and key
judgements

5. Value for
Money

Page 51

6. Fees

7.
Independence

8. Materiality
and
misstatements

Appendices

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9/

Report of external audit (Mazars) to the meeting of
Governance and Audit to be held on 26 March 2020

AE
Subject:
External Audit progress report

Summary statement:
This report provides the Governance and Audit Committee an update on progress in
delivering our responsibilities as your external auditor in 2019/20. It also provides an
update on non-audit assurance work completed in 2018/19 and summarises key national
publications that may be of interest to Members.

Cameron Waddell
Partner
Mazars LLP
Phone: 0191 383 6300
E-mail: cameron.waddell@mazars.co.uk

Page 53

1.

SUMMARY

 This report provides the Governance and Audit Committee with an update on progress
in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditors. The report highlights that,
overall, our work is on track and there are no significant issues arising from our work to
date that we need to report to the Committee.
It also highlights key emerging issues and developments within the sector which may
be of interest to Members of the Committee.

2.

BACKGROUND



Not applicable

3.

OTHER CONSIDERATIONS



Not applicable

4.

FINANCIAL & RESOURCE APPRAISAL



Not applicable

5.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES



Not applicable

6.

LEGAL APPRAISAL



Not applicable

7.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

7.1

EQUALITY & DIVERSITY



None

Page 54

7.2

SUSTAINABILITY IMPLICATIONS



None

7.3

GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS IMPACTS



None

7.4

COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS



None

7.5

HUMAN RIGHTS ACT



None

7.6

TRADE UNION



None

7.7

WARD IMPLICATIONS



None

7.8

AREA COMMITTEE ACTION PLAN IMPLICATIONS
(for reports to Area Committees only)



None

7.9

IMPLICATIONS FOR CORPORATE PARENTING



None

7.10

ISSUES ARISING FROM PRIVACY IMPACT ASSESMENT



None

8.

NOT FOR PUBLICATION DOCUMENTS



None

9.

OPTIONS



None

10.

RECOMMENDATIONS



Members of the Committee note and consider this report

11.

APPENDICES

Page 55



External Audit Progress Report

12.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS



None

Page 56

Audit progress report

City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council
March 2020

Page 57

CONTENTS
1.

Audit progress

2.

National publications

This document is to be regarded as confidential to City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council. It has been prepared for the sole use of the
Governance and Audit Committee. No responsibility is accepted to any other person in respect of the whole or part of its contents. Our
written consent must first be obtained before this document, or any part of it, is disclosed to a third party.

2

Page 58

1. AUDIT PROGRESS
Purpose of this report
This report provides the Governance and Audit Committee an update on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your external auditor
in 2019/20. It also provides an update on non-audit assurance work completed in 2018/19 and summarises key national publications that
may be of interest to Members.
Audit progress
We have completed the following as part of the 2019/20 audit:
 held internal planning meetings as part of our planning process for the 2019/20 audit;
 held meetings with key personnel at the Council to inform our understanding of the 2019/20 audit;
 undertaken planning work to refresh our documentation in respect of the Council’s systems (including undertaking walkthrough testing);
 refreshed our understanding of the processes in place at the Council that inform the preparation of the financial statements;
 undertaken our risk assessment as part of planning for our 2019/20 VFM conclusion;

 in February we hosted our Local Government financial reporting workshop, attended by James Hopwood;
 completed early testing in advance of our year-end audit; and
 prepared our Audit Strategy Memorandum, which is being presented to the Governance and Audit Committee as a separate item at this
meeting.
As at the time of drafting this report. our work is on track, and there are no significant matters arising from our work that we are required to
report to you at this stage.
Certification of claims and returns
As members will be aware, the Council is required to arrange independent certification of their housing benefits return. We have
completed this work as per the requirement set out in out engagement letter dated July 2018, the table below summarises the results of
our work:

Claim or return

Value of claim or return

Amended (1)

Matters reported (2)

Housing benefit subsidy 2018/19

£154,273,523

Yes

Yes

This is an ‘agreed upon procedures’ assurance engagement in respect of the Council’s annual subsidy claim to DWP for housing benefits,
as detailed in guidance issued by DWP “Housing Benefits Assurance Process” (HBAP). The purpose of the engagement is to perform the
specific test requirements determined by DWP on the defined sample basis. The relevant requirements are set out in Modules of the
HBAP reporting framework and we report the results of those procedures to the Council and DWP, in an ‘agreed upon procedures’ report.
The 2018/19 claim was amended and we also reported matters in our ‘agreed upon procedures’ report to DWP. Detailed findings,
including the extrapolation of errors identified, were reported in our agreed upon procedures report to the DWP dated 28 November 2019,
a copy of which was also provided to the Council. A summary of our main findings is set out below:
 Non-HRA Rent Rebates: Initial testing found 1 error relating to an earned income calculation. Per the DWP’s guidance additional
testing was completed and resulted in an adjustment of £1,073.
 Rent Allowances: Initial testing found 1 error relating to the classification of overpayments as eligible, should have been a recorded as
local authority error. We extended our sample and found an additional error, giving a total error of £225 (extrapolated error - £57,647).
 Rent Allowance: We also noted 2 errors relating to earned income calculations resulting in an overpayment of subsidy totalling £364
(extrapolated error - £55,090).
We have no other issues to report.
1. Audit progress

2. National publications

3

Page 59

2. NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
Publication/update

Key points

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA)
1.

Local Government Financial Resilience index

2.

Financial Management Code

3.

Prudential Property Investment

Online data tool which measures local authorities against a
range of indicators to assess their level of resilience.
Guidance for good and sustainable financial management in
local authorities.
Guidance on prudent investments in commercial properties.

Local Government Association (LGA)
4.

Probity in planning: advice for councillors and officers
making planning decisions

5.

Chief executives' 'must know' for children's services

This 2019 guidance is an update to the 2013 version of the
Local Government Association’s Probity in Planning.
How to avoid some of the more obvious and dangerous
errors and challenges involved in leading one of the most
sensitive, expensive and high-risk areas of local
government.

Mazars LLP
6.

Annual Transparency Report, Mazars

7.

Mazars’ response to the Brydon Review

Sets out the steps we take to enhance the quality of our
audit work and ensure that quality is consistent across the
firm.
Mazars’ response to the latest review into the auditing
profession which was published in December 2019.

1. Audit progress

2. National publications

4

Page 60

2. NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
1. Local Government Financial Resilience index, CIPFA, December 2019
The resilience index is an online data tool which measures local authorities against a range of indicators to assess their level of resilience
against financial shocks and to support financial decision making. Upper tier authorities are judged against nine indicators including social
care.
The indicators measured include:
• levels of reserves;
• change in reserves;
• reserves sustainability;
• interest payable/net revenue expenditure;
• gross external debt;
• social care ratio;
• fees and charges to service expenditure ratio;
• council tax requirement/net expenditure ratio; and
• growth above baseline.
The tool allows for year on year comparisons of each authority’s performance, as well as comparisons with similar and neighbouring
authorities. Trend analysis is also available for some of the indicators outlined above.
https://www.cipfa.org/about-cipfa/press-office/latest-press-releases/cipfa-launches-local-government-financial-resilience-index
2. Financial Management Code, CIPFA, October 2019
Strong financial management is an essential part of ensuring public sector finances are sustainable. The Financial Management Code
(FM Code) provides guidance for good and sustainable financial management in local authorities and aims to provide assurance that they
are managing resources effectively.
It requires authorities to demonstrate that the processes they have in place satisfy the principles of good financial management. The FM
Code identifies risks to financial sustainability and introduces a framework of assurance. This framework is built on existing successful
practices and sets explicit standards of financial management. Complying with the standards set out in the FM Code is the collective
responsibility of elected members, the chief finance officer and their professional colleagues in the leadership team. Complying with the
FM Code with help strengthen the framework that surrounds financial decision making.
The FM Code built on elements of other CIPFA codes during its development and its structure and applicability will be familiar to users of
publications such as The Prudential Code for Capital Finance, Treasury Management in the Public Sector Code of Practice and Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom.

The Code applies to all local authorities, including police, fire and other authorities.
By following the essential aspects of the FM Code, local authorities are providing evidence to show they are meeting important legislative
requirements in their jurisdictions.
The first full year of compliance will be 2021/22. This reflects the recognition that organisations will need time to reflect on the contents of
the Code and can use 2020/21 to demonstrate how they are working towards compliance.
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/f/financial-management-code

1. Audit progress

2. National publications

5

Page 61

2. NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
3. Prudential Property Investment, CIPFA, November 2019
Increasingly there has been a move towards investments in commercial properties, funded by borrowing, with the key driver of this activity
appearing to be the generation of revenue. This publication provides guidance on making the assessments needed to ensure that such
acquisitions are prudent and on the risks local authorities must manage when acquiring property.
Statutory investment guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) last year set out clearly that
local authorities need to consider the long-term sustainability risk implicit in becoming too dependent on commercial income, or in taking
out too much debt relative to net service expenditure.
The increased scale of investment in property was recognised by revisions to CIPFA's Prudential Code for Capital Finance and the
Treasury Management Code in 2017, but the growing amounts being borrowed for such a purpose are putting a strain on the creditability
of the Prudential Framework and reinforce the need to ensure that such acquisitions are affordable, prudent and sustainable.
In addition to the core issue of borrowing in advance of need, which the Prudential Code has very clear provisions on, this publication
provides guidance on the risk perspective to the practical assessment of prudence and affordability. Those risks could be very difficult to
manage. Even when these issues are managed and there is reliance on investment income, a potential failure or a downturn of the
property market may have a direct impact upon local services.
This publication considers such issues and the actions local authorities would need to take to mitigate against such risks.
https://www.cipfa.org/policy-and-guidance/publications/p/prudential-property-investment
4. Probity in planning: Advice for councillors and officers making planning decisions, LGA, December 2019
This 2019 guidance is an update to the 2013 version of the Local Government Association’s Probity in Planning. It clarifies how
councillors can get involved in planning discussions on plan making and on applications, on behalf of their communities in a fair, impartial
and transparent way. This guide has been written for officers and councillors involved in making planning decisions in their local authority
and does not constitute legal advice.
https://www.local.gov.uk/probity-planning-advice-councillors-and-officers-making-planning-decisions
5. Chief executives' 'must know' for children's services, LGA, December 2019
This is not intended to be a comprehensive blue-print for guaranteed results. Rather, it is intended to be a clear summary guide for chief
executives, showing how to avoid some of the more obvious and dangerous errors and challenges involved in leading one of the most
sensitive, expensive and high-risk areas of local government.
Key messages stated in the publication include:
• Together with the director of children’s services, the lead member for children’s services, and the leader or mayor, the chief executive
has a key leadership role across the council and working with other local agencies to improve outcomes for children and young people.
This strategic ‘quartet’ of political and officer leadership is fundamental to effectiveness and sustained improvement. It is the role of the
chief executive, as the most senior professional concerned, to ensure the quartet is at least functional, at best, collectively inspirational
and transformational.
• While the director of children’s services and lead member have statutory responsibilities for delivering effective children’s services and
providing corporate leadership to champion the needs and improved outcomes for children and young people, the chief executive has a
crucial role to ensure the whole council supports children and young people and enables the director to fulfil their role. The chief
executive also plays the fundamental role in the effective professional oversight and line management of the director of children’s
services.
• Due to the complex nature of running a council, and the challenge of balancing workload pressures, chief executives might not have the
time to develop an in-depth understanding of the ongoing performance of complex services. They instead must establish a system of
delegated responsibility and performance reporting in order to fulfil their, and the council’s obligations. Being in the chief executive
position brings with it particular risks and challenges, especially when that complex service is children and young people, where the
risks are high and the cost of failure can be profound, yet the signals of deteriorating performance may at best be opaque.
https://www.local.gov.uk/chief-executives-must-know-childrens-services
1. Audit progress

2. National publications

6

Page 62

2. NATIONAL PUBLICATIONS
6. Annual Transparency Report, Mazars, December 2019
Mazars produces an annual transparency report, setting out the steps we take to enhance the quality of our audit work and ensure that
quality is consistent across the firm. The report includes:
• Public Interest Committee Report;
• UK Governance Council Report;
• Inspiring Stakeholder Confidence in Audit Quality (including quality monitoring and audit quality indicators);
• Our risks; and
• Structure, Leadership and Governance.
Link to the latest report issued in December 2019 is set out below.

https://www.mazars.co.uk/Home/About-us/Corporate-publications/Transparency-reports/Mazars-UK-Transparency-Report-2018-2019
7. Mazars’ response to the Brydon Review, Mazars, December 2019
The Brydon Review is one of four key reviews into the scope and quality of audit, namely:
• Competition and Market’s Authority (CMA): resilience and competition in the audit market;
• Kingman’s Review (review of the Financial Reporting Council and regulatory oversight);
• The Brydon Review (tone and aspirations for the future of the industry); and
• The Redmond Review (quality of local authority financial reporting and external audit).
The Brydon Review contains various recommendations and essentially recommends a major overhaul of audit which would see the
creation of a separate ‘corporate auditing profession’, greater focus on fraud detection during audits, and the replacement of the ‘true and
fair’ concept, with a greater focus on going concern.
Mazars’ response to the latest Brydon Review report issued in December 2019 is detailed per the link below.
https://www.mazars.co.uk/Home/News-Events/Latest-news/Mazars-response-to-the-Brydon-report
Link to the Brydon Review
Published in December 2019, focusing on the quality and effectiveness of audit.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-quality-and-effectiveness-of-audit-independent-review
Link to the Kingman’s Review
Published in December 2018, this review recommended the replacement of the Financial Reporting Council with a new independent
statutory regulator, accountable to Parliament. The new regulator will be called the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority (ARGA).
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/independent-review-of-the-financial-reporting-council-frc-launches-report
Link to the Redmond Review
At the time of writing this report, the outcome from the Redmond Review has not been published, and we await its outcome with interest.
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/review-of-local-authority-financial-reporting-and-external-audit-call-for-views

1. Audit progress

2. National publications

7

Page 63

CONTACT

Partner: Cameron Waddell
Phone: 0191 383 6300
Email: cameron.wadell@mazars.co.uk

Senior Manager: Mark Outterside
Phone: 07284 086 593
Email: mark.outterside@mazars.co.uk

Page 64

Agenda Item 10/

Report of the Director of Finance to the meeting of the
Governance and Audit Committee to be held on 26
March 2020

AF
Subject:
Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21

Summary statement:
This report shows the Council’s 2020-21 Treasury Strategy

Chris Chapman
Director of Finance

Portfolio:
Leader of Council and Corporate

Report Contact: David Willis
Tel: 01274 432882

Overview & Scrutiny Area:
Corporate

Page 65

1.INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background
This report presents the Council’s 2020-21 Treasury Management Strategy. It
links to the budgets decisions for 2020-21 set out in the Capital Strategy and
Revenue Estimates.
The most important linkage is with the Capital Budget; which in part is funded
with borrowing: managing this borrowing is a key part of the Treasury
Management Strategy. A balanced Revenue Budget is set but uneven cash
flows during the course of the year also have to be managed.
Further, the report is the first of three reports in the year, to plan and manage
risks related to the Treasury Management function. The other 2 reports will
be:
(i)

A mid-year treasury management report – a progress report,
which also updates any projections for actual financial results to
date.

(ii)

An annual treasury report – This reviews the actual final financial
results and compares them with the estimates in this strategy.

All the above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being
recommended to the Council. This role is undertaken by the Governance and
Audit Committee.
1.2 Overview
The Council’s 2020-21 Treasury Management Strategy covers:










Definition of Treasury Management, Training, Consultants
Treasury Management Regulation
Prudential Indicators
Prospect for Interest Rates
Borrowing Strategy
Policy on borrowing in advance of need
Debt rescheduling
Treasury Investments
Options, Finance & Resources, Risks

1.3 Definition of Treasury Management
Treasury Management is about managing the activities of: cash flows,
banking, borrowing, money market transactions and investments. This last
activity includes investments in securities (called Treasury Investments) as
well as property investments which are made for financial return (nonTreasury Investments).

Page 66

3

The most important part of Treasury Management is controlling the risks that
arise from the above activities.
1.4 Training
The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with
responsibility for treasury management receive adequate training.
The requirement for training also applies to the members responsible for
scrutiny. Training has been undertaken by members on the 14 th March 2019.
Further training will be arranged as required.
The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.
1.5 Treasury management consultants
The Council uses Link Asset Services, Treasury solutions as its external
treasury management advisors.
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions
remains with the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance
is not placed upon the services of our external service providers. All decisions
will be undertaken with regards to all available information, including, but not
solely, our treasury advisers.
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and
resources. The Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the
methods by which their value will be assessed are properly agreed and
documented, and subjected to regular review.
1.6 Treasury Management Regulation
Because of the need to manage risks, there is significant regulation on
Treasury Management activities within Local Government.
The 2003 Local Government Act requires Full Council to approve the
Treasury Strategy and authorise the borrowing to fund the Capital Budget.
To help the Council consider an appropriate level of borrowing and risk, the
Chartered Institute of Public Finance Accountancy (CIPFA), recommends the
use of a set of quantitative measures.
These quantitative measures are called Prudential Indicators. They are
discussed in more detail below.
CIPFA also recommends that the security of any investment is always
prioritised. When making an investment decision, the considerations should
be, in order of importance, security, liquidity and yield.

Page 67

4

2 PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS
2.1 Purpose
The purpose of including many of the Prudential Indicators within the Treasury
Management Strategy is to assess future risk from the Council’s activities.
The Treasury Management Strategy then plans for these risks.
The Prudential Indicators used are described below:
 The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) – this is the total amount of
debt incurred by the Council to fund capital expenditure.
 External loans – this shows a reconciliation between the CFR and the
Council’s external loans.
 Capital Spend funded by borrowing – this measures the underlying
increase in the need to borrow for a capital purpose, which increases
the Capital Financing Requirement.
 New Loans – new loans that the Council is expected to take out,
including adjustments for the refinancing of existing debt.
 Authorised and Operational Limit – the Authorised limit is the total
amount of borrowing that the Section 151 Officer is authorised to
undertake. The Operational Limit is the total amount of borrowing the
Treasury Management Officer is authorised to undertake.
These prudential indicators are presented in more detail below and
also shown in Appendix 1.
2.2 The Capital Financing Requirement
The current actual Prudential Indicator for the Capital Financing Requirement
can be identified from the Council’s 2019-20 Statement of Accounts. This is
shown in the Table 1 below:
Table 1: Bradford’s Actual Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

*Balance Sheet
Land, Buildings, Vehicles held
Offsetting Technical Reserves
Capital Financing Requirement
*Source: 2018-19 Accounts

31/03/2018
Actual
£
1,045
-376
669

31/03/2019
Actual
£
1,055
-355
700

Table 1 shows the Council had a CFR at 31 March 2019 of £700m.
A projection for the CFR has also been calculated for future years, in Table 2a

Page 68

5

below. This projection involves accounting for the increase in new borrowing
due to the Capital Investment Programme. This increase is then offset by the
amounts set aside to repay debt (called technically the Minimum Revenue
Provision).
This projected increase in new borrowing is based on the Capital Investment
Plan 2020-21 to 2023-24 (Full Council 20 February 2020).
Overall, assuming that the Capital Budget is delivered in full, the CFR is
projected to reach a peak of £916m in 2023-2024.
Table 2a Actual and Estimated CFR
31/03/19 31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Opening
Capital
Financing
Requirement
Increase in
borrowing
Less MRP
and other
financing
movements
Closing
Capital
Financing
Requirement

669

700

731

802

867

914

32

51

96

93

78

36

-1

-20

-25

-28

-31

-34

700

731

802

867

914

916

2.3 External Loans
The Council’s actual external loans are less than its CFR for the following
reasons:
 Some items of past capital expenditure were funded with finance leases,
(called the Private Finance Initiative - PFI). In broad terms, these are
similar to Hire Purchase Contracts: rather than an actual loan, the
liability is funded by a contract to make periodic payments to a third
party.
 The Council has also reduced its external loans by borrowing internally
against its own earmarked reserves (External loans costs are higher
than the income the Council receives from investing its earmarked
reserves).
 The amount of external loans is also influenced by the Council’s
investments and working capital.

Page 69

6

This is shown in Table 2b below:

Table 2b Actual and Estimated External Loans
31/03/19 31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Opening Capital
Financing
669
700
732
803
868
916
Requirement
Private Finance
-178
-174
-169
-165
-161
-156
Initiative
*Earmarked
-202
-256
-256
-256
-256
-256
Reserves
35
Investments
53
10
10
10
10
2
Working Capital
-9
-9
-9
-9
-9
(ii) Opening
External Debt 1
326
314
308
383
452
505
April
Under borrowing
343
386
424
420
416
411
*(Earmarked Reserves include schools delegated balances)
2.4 Capital Spend funded by borrowing
The Capital Budget has been analysed to show separately the amount that is
funded from borrowing. This analysis is shown in Table 2c below:
Table 2c: Capital Spend Funded from Borrowing
31/03/19 31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Total Capital
Spend
Capital
Spend not
funded from
borrowing
Capital
spend
funded from
borrowing

84

121

209

205

190

42

53

70

113

112

112

6

31

51

96

93

78

36

2.5 New Loans
A projection of new loans is shown in Table 2d below. This projection shows
that the capital spend funded from borrowing (see Table 2c above) generates
a need to take out new loans – after adjusting for the refinancing of past
borrowing and other balance sheet changes.

Page 70

7

Table 2d: Projected New Borrowing
31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Borrowing
requirement for
capital budget
Maturing loans
Investment/working
capital changes
MRP (excluding PFI)
External Loan
requirement

51

96

93

78

36

17

2

6

16

6

7

-43

0

0

0

-15

-21

-23

-26

-30

60

34

76

68

12

2.6 Operational and Authorised Limit
Based on the above Indicators, it is also proposed to set a Prudential Indicator
within the Treasury Strategy limiting the Council’s total debt for a capital
purpose.
It has been decided to set this Prudential Indicator based on the projected
CFR: which itself is estimated on the basis that the 2020-21 Capital Strategy
is fully delivered. The limits are set as follows:


The Operational Limit in any year is based on the projected closing
CFR (Table 2a).



The Authorised Limit in any year is based on the Operational Limit plus
an additional £10m of headroom.

The Operational and Authorised Limit provide some flexibility should there be
an additional draw on earmarked reserves. Holding these reserves currently
reduces the amount of external borrowing required (see Table 2b above).
Reasons for an additional draw on earmarked reserves could be a severe
economic downturn or an unfavourable funding settlement.
The Operational and Authorised Limits are shown in Table 2e below:
Table 2e: Operational and Authorised Limit
Operational Limit for external Debt
201819

External Loans
Other Long term

£m
400
200

201920

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24
Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
410
540
605
655
655
180
180
180
180
180

Page 71

8

liabilities

Authorised Limit for external Debt
2018-19

2019-20

2020-21

2021-22

£m
420

£m
430

£m
550

£m
615

£m
665

£m
665

220

200

180

180

180

180

External Loans
Other Long term
liabilities

2022-23 2023-24

2.7 Current portfolio position
The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31 March 2019 and for the
position as at 31.1.20 are shown below for both borrowing and investments:
Actual
31.3.19
£m

Actual
31.3.19
%

Actual
31.1.20
£m

Actual
31.1.20
%

Treasury investments
Banks
Building Societies - rated

29.4
5.0

52
9

33.5
3.0

56
5

Money Market Funds
Total managed in house

22.5
56.9

39
100

23.4
59.9

39
100

275.1
36.2
311.3

88
12
100

311.1
36.2
347.3

90
10
100

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Treasury external borrowing
PWLB
LOBO’s
Total borrowing
Total borrowing less
investments

254.4

287.4

2.8 Minimum Revenue Policy (MRP) Strategy
The MRP policy for 2020-21 is shown in Appendix 2.
The policy aligns the profile of the expected service benefit from using the
Council’s assets. Changes in 2020-21, compared to the current 2019-20 year
are:


The Section 151 Officer is given delegated powers to pay back
borrowing on an annuity, rather than equal life basis, for investment
purchased during or after 2018-19. This would only be if two conditions
are met: the asset retains and/or increases its value; and a reasonable

Page 72

9

return on the capital sum invested returned (Appendix 2, 1.3 (e)).


The MRP on loans to third parties can be staged in order to match with
the loan repayments, providing certain conditions are met: the capital
scheme is self-financing; that there is overall confidence that the loan
will be repaid; that the third party maintains its adherence to the agreed
repayment schedule. Appendix 2, 1.7).

The overall strategy of the MRP Strategy is to match debt repayment costs in
the Revenue Estimates, with the service benefit from the related asset
purchase.

3

PROSPECTS FOR INTEREST RATES

The Council has appointed Link Asset Services as its treasury advisor and
part of their service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest
rates. The following table gives Link’s central view.

Link Asset Services Interest Rate View
Mar-20

Jun-20

Sep-20

Dec-20

Mar-21

Jun-21

Sep-21

Dec-21

Mar-22

Jun-22

Sep-22

Dec-22

Mar-23

Bank Rate View

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.75

0.75

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.00

1.25

1.25

1.25

1.25

3 Month LIBID

0.70

0.70

0.80

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.00

1.10

1.20

1.30

1.30

1.30

1.30

6 Month LIBID

0.80

0.80

0.90

1.00

1.00

1.10

1.20

1.30

1.40

1.50

1.50

1.50

1.50

12 Month LIBID

0.90

0.90

1.00

1.10

1.20

1.30

1.40

1.50

1.60

1.70

1.70

1.70

1.70

5yr PWLB Rate

2.30

2.30

2.40

2.40

2.50

2.60

2.70

2.80

2.90

2.90

3.00

3.00

3.10

10yr PWLB Rate

2.50

2.50

2.60

2.60

2.70

2.80

2.90

3.00

3.10

3.10

3.20

3.20

3.30

25yr PWLB Rate

3.00

3.00

3.10

3.20

3.30

3.40

3.50

3.60

3.70

3.80

3.80

3.90

3.90

50yr PWLB Rate

2.90

2.90

3.00

3.10

3.20

3.30

3.40

3.50

3.60

3.70

3.70

3.80

3.80

Link Asset Services

0.75%

0.75%

0.75%

0.75%

0.75%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.25%

1.25%

1.25%

1.25%

Capital Economics

0.75%

0.75%

0.75%

0.75%

0.75%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

-

-

-

-

-

Link Asset Services

2.30%

2.30%

2.40%

2.40%

2.50%

2.60%

2.70%

2.80%

2.90%

2.90%

3.00%

3.00%

3.10%

Capital Economics

2.40%

2.50%

2.50%

2.60%

2.60%

2.80%

2.80%

2.90%

-

-

-

-

-

Link Asset Services

2.50%

2.50%

2.60%

2.60%

2.70%

2.80%

2.90%

3.00%

3.10%

3.10%

3.20%

3.20%

3.30%

Capital Economics

2.70%

2.70%

2.80%

2.80%

2.90%

3.00%

3.00%

3.10%

-

-

-

-

-

Link Asset Services

3.00%

3.00%

3.10%

3.20%

3.30%

3.40%

3.50%

3.60%

3.70%

3.80%

3.80%

3.90%

3.90%

Capital Economics

3.10%

3.10%

3.20%

3.20%

3.20%

3.30%

3.30%

3.40%

-

-

-

-

-

Link Asset Services

2.90%

2.90%

3.00%

3.10%

3.20%

3.30%

3.40%

3.50%

3.60%

3.70%

3.70%

3.80%

3.80%

Capital Economics

3.10%

3.10%

3.20%

3.20%

3.30%

3.40%

3.40%

3.50%

-

-

-

-

-

Bank Rate

5yr PWLB Rate

10yr PWLB Rate

25yr PWLB Rate

50yr PWLB Rate

The above forecasts have been based on an assumption that there is an
agreed deal on Brexit, including agreement on the terms of trade between the
UK and EU, at some point in time. The result of the general election has
removed much uncertainty around this major assumption. However, it does
not remove uncertainty around whether agreement can be reached with the
EU on a trade deal within the short time to December 2020, as the prime
minister has pledged.

Page 73

10

It has been little surprise that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) has left
Bank Rate unchanged at 0.75% so far in 2019 due to the ongoing uncertainty
over Brexit and the outcome of the general election. In its meeting on 7
November, the MPC became more dovish due to increased concerns over the
outlook for the domestic economy if Brexit uncertainties were to become more
entrenched, and for weak global economic growth: if those uncertainties were
to materialise, then the MPC were likely to cut Bank Rate. However, if they
were both to dissipate, then rates would need to rise at a “gradual pace and to
a limited extent”. Brexit uncertainty has had a dampening effect on UK GDP
growth in 2019, especially around mid-year. There is still some residual risk
that the MPC could cut Bank Rate as the UK economy is still likely to only
grow weakly in 2020 due to continuing uncertainty over whether there could
effectively be a no deal Brexit in December 2020 if agreement on a trade deal
is not reached with the EU. Until that major uncertainty is removed, or the
period for agreeing a deal is extended, it is unlikely that the MPC would raise
Bank Rate.
Coronavirus. The Coronavirus outbreak is now causing significant disruption
to the economy of China and could spill over to affect other countries.
However, more recent news of significant outbreaks in Italy and Iran, and new
cases being reported in several other countries, have alarmed investors; on
24 and 25 February, bond yields and equity markets fell sharply as investors
moved into safe haven investments. The 10 year US bond yield hit a record
low, which, in more normal times, would be seen as a predictor of a coming
recession. However, this could also be viewed as being a panic reaction to a
worst case scenario which may not occur.
If the coronavirus outbreak were to become more widespread in Europe and
the US, central banks might need to take action to cut interest rates, or ease
monetary policy in other ways, to help economies suffering economic
disruption. If the situation does deteriorate, then it is likely that we will see low
bond yields, lower global growth and investor confidence waning until an end
is in sight for the coronavirus crisis i.e. the forecasts for interest rates in the
above table will be knocked off course.
Bond yields / PWLB rates. There has been much speculation during 2019
that the bond market has gone into a bubble, as evidenced by high bond
prices and remarkably low yields. However, given the context that there have
been heightened expectations that the US was heading for a recession in
2020, and a general background of a downturn in world economic growth,
together with inflation generally at low levels in most countries and expected
to remain subdued, conditions are ripe for low bond yields. While inflation
targeting by the major central banks has been successful over the last thirty
years in lowering inflation expectations, the real equilibrium rate for central
rates has fallen considerably due to the high level of borrowing by consumers:
this means that central banks do not need to raise rates as much now to have
a major impact on consumer spending, inflation, etc. This has pulled down the
overall level of interest rates and bond yields in financial markets over the last
thirty years. We have therefore seen over the last year, many bond yields up
to ten years in the Eurozone actually turn negative. In addition, there has, at

Page 74

11

times, been an inversion of bond yields in the US whereby ten-year yields
have fallen below shorter-term yields. In the past, this has been a precursor of
a recession. The other side of this coin is that bond prices are elevated, as
investors would be expected to be moving out of riskier assets i.e. shares, in
anticipation of a downturn in corporate earnings and so selling out of equities.
However, stock markets are also currently at high levels as some investors
have focused on chasing returns in the context of dismal ultra-low interest
rates on cash deposits.
During the first half of 2019-20 to 30 September, gilt yields plunged and
caused a near halving of longer term PWLB rates to completely
unprecedented historic low levels. There is though, an expectation that
financial markets have gone too far in their fears about the degree of the
downturn in US and world growth. If, as expected, the US only suffers a mild
downturn in growth, bond markets in the US are likely to sell off and that
would be expected to put upward pressure on bond yields, not only in the US,
but also in the UK due to a correlation between US treasuries and UK gilts; at
various times this correlation has been strong but at other times weak.
However, forecasting the timing of this, and how strong the correlation is likely
to be, is very difficult to forecast with any degree of confidence. Changes in
UK Bank Rate will also impact on gilt yields.
One potential danger that may be lurking in investor minds is that Japan has
become mired in a twenty-year bog of failing to get economic growth and
inflation up off the floor, despite a combination of massive monetary and fiscal
stimulus by both the central bank and government. Investors could be fretting
that this condition might become contagious to other western economies.
Another danger is that unconventional monetary policy post 2008, (ultra-low
interest rates plus quantitative easing), may end up doing more harm than
good through prolonged use. Low interest rates have encouraged a debtfuelled boom that now makes it harder for central banks to raise interest rates.
Negative interest rates could damage the profitability of commercial banks
and so impair their ability to lend and / or push them into riskier lending. Banks
could also end up holding large amounts of their government’s bonds and so
create a potential doom loop. (A doom loop would occur where the credit
rating of the debt of a nation was downgraded which would cause bond prices
to fall, causing losses on debt portfolios held by banks and insurers, so
reducing their capital and forcing them to sell bonds – which, in turn, would
cause further falls in their prices etc.). In addition, the financial viability of
pension funds could be damaged by low yields on holdings of bonds.
The overall longer run future trend is for gilt yields, and consequently PWLB
rates, to rise, albeit gently. From time to time, gilt yields, and therefore PWLB
rates, can be subject to exceptional levels of volatility due to geo-political,
sovereign debt crisis, emerging market developments and sharp changes in
investor sentiment. Such volatility could occur at any time during the forecast
period.

Page 75

12

In addition, PWLB rates are subject to ad hoc decisions by H.M. Treasury to
change the margin over gilt yields charged in PWLB rates: such changes
could be up or down. It is not clear that if gilt yields were to rise back up again
by over 100bps within the next year or so, whether H M Treasury would
remove the extra 100 bps margin implemented on 9.10.19.
Economic and interest rate forecasting remains difficult with so many
influences weighing on UK gilt yields and PWLB rates. The above forecasts,
(and MPC decisions), will be liable to further amendment depending on how
economic data and developments in financial markets transpire over the next
year. Geopolitical developments, especially in the EU, could also have a
major impact. Forecasts for average investment earnings beyond the threeyear time horizon will be heavily dependent on economic and political
developments.
The coronavirus has developed rapidly over the last few weeks which has
resulted in dramatic falls in the equity markets and significant falls in interest
rates worldwide. The UK cut interest rates on11/03/20 from 0.75% to 0.25%
and long term borrowing costs have fallen by around 0.50% since the
beginning of January.
Investment and borrowing rates

4



Investment returns are likely to remain low during 2020/21 with little
increase in the following two years. However, if major progress was
made with an agreed Brexit, then there is upside potential for earnings.



Borrowing interest rates were on a major falling trend during the first half
of 2019-20 but then jumped up by 100 bps on 9.10.19. The policy of
avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has
served local authorities well over the last few years. However, the
unexpected increase of 100 bps in PWLB rates requires a major rethink
of local authority treasury management strategy and risk management.



While this authority will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new
capital expenditure, to replace maturing debt and the rundown of
reserves, there will be a cost of carry, (the difference between higher
borrowing costs and lower investment returns), to any new short or
medium-term borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash
balances as this position will, most likely, incur a revenue cost.
BORROWING STRATEGY

To date, during the 2019-20 financial year, the Council has undertaken £41m
of new borrowing at an average rate of 1.78%. This was both to fund capital
schemes and to refinance previous loans of £17.1m The previous loans paid
an average interest rate of 6.19%. This reduced the overall borrowing rate for
all the Council debt from 5.36% to 4.89% a reduction of 0.47%.
The future context is that the Prudential Indicators show a requirement for

Page 76

13

further borrowing between 2020-21 and 2023-24. Assuming the latest Capital
Investment Plan is delivered in full, there is a borrowing requirement of £190m
between 2020-21 and 2023-24 (see Table 2d Projected New Borrowing).
Graph 1 below also shows how external loans are projected to increase
alongside the Capital Financing Requirement and its main elements.

The context is that the Council had an under-borrowed position of £343m at
31 March 2019, which is projected to continue in the future (see Table 2b Actual and Estimated External Loans - & Graph 1 above). An under-borrowed
position means that the capital borrowing need (the Capital Financing
Requirement), is above the level of the Council’s actual external loans. The
Council’s cash held in reserves, balances and working capital bridge the
difference between the borrowing need and the external loans.
An under-borrowing strategy can be prudent. Investment returns are low and
counterparty risk is avoided. However, in the event that one-off earmarked
reserves are used up, these would have to be replaced with external loans.
Considering the context set out above, alongside the prospects for interest
rates, key points to consider are:


The proposed 2020-21 Capital Investment Plan has a direct impact on
the amount of borrowing required.



The Prudential Indicators assume that the Capital Investment Plan is
delivered in full. Slippage will reduce the borrowing requirement.



The borrowing and the interest charges have to be funded within the
Revenue Estimates.



Given the size of the borrowing, interest rates will have a significant
impact on cost pressures in the Revenue Estimates.

Page 77

14



Following the decision of the PWLB to set interest rates at an increased
margin over gilts, alternative lenders have entered the market. These
alternative lenders are also developing options to borrow at current
interest rates at a point in time in the future (known as future borrowing).
This future borrowing option could be carried out against a portion of the
overall quantum of new borrowing.



The projected future costs in the Revenue Estimates for borrowing
include an assumption of gradually rising interest rates. By locking in a
portion of borrowing, the Council could increase certainty and improve
the outlook in the Medium Term Financial Strategy (although if interest
rates reduce in practice, the Council would lose the financial benefit of
this).

Overall therefore future actions are:

5



Against the background and the risks within the economic forecast,
caution will be adopted with the 2020/21 treasury operations. The S151
officer will monitor interest rates in financial markets and adopt a
pragmatic approach to changing circumstances.



The Council will closely monitor slippage on capital schemes, revised
spending estimates and projections of future borrowing.



Project the Council’s future requirement for external loans as accurately
as possible.



According to the latest estimates of spend, the Council will examine
different borrowing options, including forward borrowing.
POLICY ON BORROWING IN ADVANCE OF NEED

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision
to borrow in advance will be within forward approved Capital Financing
Requirement estimates, and will be considered carefully to ensure that value
for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can ensure the security
of such funds.
6

DEBT RESCHEDULING

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as
the 100 bps increase in PWLB rates only applied to new borrowing rates and
not to premature debt repayment rates.
If rescheduling was done, it will be reported to the Governance and Audit
Committee at the earliest meeting following its action.

Page 78

15

a. New financial institutions as a source of borrowing


Following the decision by the PWLB on 9 October 2019 to increase
their margin over gilt yields by 100 bps to 180 basis points on loans lent
to local authorities, consideration will also need to be given to sourcing
funding at cheaper rates. A schedule is attached to the strategy (see
Appendix 5.3, showing a list of approved bodies that it is proposed the
Council can borrow from.



The Council could also consider fixing a proportion of future borrowing
at current interest rates. In order to fix this future borrowing, the
Authority needs to be confident in its projections of future borrowing;
this means accurate capital monitoring. Therefore, it is proposed that
the Section 151 officer reviews risks around fixing a proportion of future
borrowing.



Options proposed within the Treasury Strategy for the Section 151
Officer to consider are:



Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities)



Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds
but also some banks, out of spot or forward dates)



Municipal Bonds Agency

The degree which any of these options proves cheaper than PWLB Certainty
Rate is still evolving at the time of writing.
b. Change to Treasury Management Policies
1) Following the changes to the PWLB rate mentioned in paragraph 6 it is
recommended to add the following options of sources of finance to the
Treasury Management Policies.
i)Pension Funds
ii Insurance companies
iii) Banks
7

TREASURY INVESTMENTS

7.1 Investment policy – management of risk
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: 

MHCLG’s Guidance
Guidance”)

on

Local

Page 79

Government

Investments

(“the

16




CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and
Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”)
CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018

The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity
second and then yield, (return).
The above guidance from the MHCLG and CIPFA place a high priority on the
management of risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to
managing risk and defines its risk appetite by the following means: 1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate
a list of highly creditworthy counterparties. This also enables
diversification and thus avoidance of concentration risk. The key
ratings used to monitor counterparties are the short term and longterm ratings.
2. Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the
quality of an institution; it is important to continually assess and
monitor the financial sector on both a micro and macro basis and in
relation to the economic and political environments in which
institutions operate. The assessment will also take account of
information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this
consideration, the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a
monitor on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and
overlay that information on top of the credit ratings.
3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share
price and other such information pertaining to the financial sector in
order to establish the most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of
potential investment counterparties.
4. This authority has defined the list of types of investment instruments
that the treasury management team are authorised to use. .



Specified investments are those with a high level of credit
quality and subject to a maturity limit of one year.
Non-specified investments are those with less high credit
quality, may be for periods in excess of one year, and/or are
more complex instruments which require greater consideration
by members and officers before being authorised for use. Once
an investment is classed as non-specified, it remains nonspecified all the way through to maturity i.e. an 18 month deposit
would still be non-specified even if it has only 11 months left until
maturity.

5. Non-specified investments limit. The Council has determined that it
will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified investments as
being 20% at time of investment of the total investment portfolio, (see
paragraph 4.3).

Page 80

17

6. Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty will be
set through applying the matrix table in paragraph 4.2.
7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2.
8. This authority will set a limit for the amount of its investments which are
invested for longer than 365 days, (see paragraph 4.4).
9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with
a specified minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 4.3).
10. This authority has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph
1.4), to provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate
balance of security, liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this
authority in the context of the expected level of cash balances and
need for liquidity throughout the year.
11. All investments will be denominated in sterling.
12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2019/20 under
IFRS 9, this authority will consider the implications of investment
instruments which could result in an adverse movement in the value of
the amount invested and resultant charges at the end of the year to the
General Fund. (In November 2018, the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government, [MHCLG], concluded a
consultation for a temporary override to allow English local authorities
time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled investments by announcing a
statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five years
commencing from 1.4.18
However, this authority will also pursue value for money in treasury
management and will monitor the yield from investment income against
appropriate benchmarks for investment performance, (see paragraph 4.5).
Regular monitoring of investment performance will be carried out during the
year.
7.2

Creditworthiness policy

The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the
security of its investments, although the yield or return on the investment is
also a key consideration. After this main principle, the Council will ensure
that:


It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment
types it will invest in, criteria for choosing investment
counterparties with adequate security, and monitoring their
security. This is set out in the specified and non-specified
investment sections below; and

Page 81

18



It has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose, it
will set out procedures for determining the maximum periods for
which funds may prudently be committed. These procedures
also apply to the Council’s prudential indicators covering the
maximum principal sums invested.

The Director of Finance will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the
following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for
approval as necessary. These criteria are separate to that which determines
which types of investment instrument are either specified or non-specified as it
provides an overall pool of counterparties considered high quality which the
Council may use, rather than defining what types of investment instruments
are to be used.
The criteria for providing a pool of high quality investment counterparties,
(both specified and non-specified investments) is:

Institution

Amount

Time
limit

To qualify as a
"specified"
investment

Non UK
Country

Banks/Building Societies £30m

2yrs

Less than 1 year AA-

* Banks/Building Societies £20m

1 yr

Less than 1 year AA-

Banks/Building Societies £7m

100 day

Less than 1 year AA-

Nat West Bank
Local Authorities

1yr
1yr

Less than 1 year N/A
Less than 1 year N/A

* Money market funds
Treasury Bills
UK Government Bonds

£20m
£20m

£20m
1 yr
Less than 1 year N/A
No limit 6 months Less than 1 year N/A
Unlimited 2 years
Less than 1 year N/A

Short-term Investment
Requires all: Standard &
Poor (A-1); Fitch (F1;
Moody's P-1)
Requires all: Standard &
Poor (A-1); Fitch (F1;
Moody's P-1)

Long Term
Investment

Requires Moody's
Aa3 (or better)
Requires Moody's
long term A1 (or
better)
Either of; Moody's
Either: Standard & Poor long term A3 or
(A-1); Fitch (F1)
better;
Council's bank/part
Government owned
N/A
N/A
N/A
Either: Standard &
Poor AAA; Fitch AA;
N/A
Moody's AA
UK Gov. rating
UK Gov. rating
UK Gov. rating
UK Gov. rating

*See 7.6, sets out alternative amounts & ratings to be used in extremis

Use of additional information other than credit ratings. Additional
requirements under the Code require the Council to supplement credit rating
information. lWhilst the above criteria relies primarily on the application of
credit ratings to provide a pool of appropriate counterparties for officers to
use, additional operational market information will be applied before making
any specific investment decision from the agreed pool of counterparties. This
additional market information (for example Credit Default Swaps, rating
Watches/Outlooks) will be applied to compare the relative security of differing
investment opportunities.
Time and monetary limits applying to investments. The time and monetary
limits for institutions on the Council’s counterparty list are as follows (these will

Page 82

19

cover both specified and non-specified investments):
UK banks – ring fencing
The largest UK banks, (those with more than £25bn of retail / Small and
Medium-sized Enterprise (SME) deposits), are required, by UK law, to
separate core retail banking services from their investment and international
banking activities by 1st January 2019. This is known as “ring-fencing”. Whilst
smaller banks with less than £25bn in deposits are exempt, they can choose
to opt up. Several banks are very close to the threshold already and so may
come into scope in the future regardless.
Ring-fencing is a regulatory initiative created in response to the global
financial crisis. It mandates the separation of retail and SME deposits from
investment banking, in order to improve the resilience and resolvability of
banks by changing their structure. In general, simpler, activities offered from
within a ring-fenced bank, (RFB), will be focused on lower risk, day-to-day
core transactions, whilst more complex and “riskier” activities are required to
be housed in a separate entity, a non-ring-fenced bank, (NRFB). This is
intended to ensure that an entity’s core activities are not adversely affected by
the acts or omissions of other members of its group.
While the structure of the banks included within this process may have
changed, the fundamentals of credit assessment have not. The Council will
continue to assess the new-formed entities in the same way that it does
others and those with sufficiently high ratings, (and any other metrics
considered), will be considered for investment purposes.
7.3

Other limits

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total
investment portfolio to non-specified investments, countries, groups and
sectors.
a) Non-specified investment limit. The Council has determined
that it will limit the maximum total exposure to non-specified
investments as being 20% of the total investment portfolio.
b) Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use
approved counterparties from the UK and from countries with a
minimum sovereign credit rating of AA- from Fitch or
equivalent. The list of countries that qualify using this credit
criteria as at the date of this report are shown in Appendix 5.
This list will be added to, or deducted from, by officers should
ratings change in accordance with this policy.
7.4

Investment strategy

In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance
and cash flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e.
rates for investments up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable

Page 83

20

by investing for longer periods. While most cash balances are required in
order to manage the ups and downs of cash flow where cash sums can be
identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to be obtained
from longer term investments will be carefully assessed.


If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time
horizon being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping
most investments as being short term or variable.



Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time
period, consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently
obtainable, for longer periods.

Investment returns expectations.
On the assumption that the UK and EU agree a Brexit deal including the terms
of trade by the end of 2020 or soon after, then Bank Rate is forecast to
increase only slowly over the next few years to reach 1.00% by quarter 1
2023. Bank Rate forecasts for financial year ends (March) are:




Q1 2021 0.75%
Q1 2022 1.00%
Q1 2023 1.00%

The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments
placed for periods up to about three months during each financial year are as
follows:
2019/20
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25
Later years

0.75%
0.75%
1.00%
1.25%
1.50%
1.75%
2.25%



The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably
to the downside due to the weight of all the uncertainties over Brexit, as
well as a softening global economic picture.



The balance of risks to increases in Bank Rate and shorter term PWLB
rates are broadly similarly to the downside.



In the event that a Brexit deal is agreed with the EU and approved by
Parliament, the balance of risks to economic growth and to increases in
Bank Rate is likely to change to the upside.

Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for
greater than 365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s
liquidity requirements and to reduce the need for early sale of an investment,

Page 84

21

and are based on the availability of funds after each year-end.
The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicator and limit:

Upper limit for principal sums invested for longer than 365 days
£m
2020/21
2021/22
2022/23
Principal sums invested
£20m
£20m
£20m
for longer than 365 days
For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its
business reserve instant access and notice accounts, money market funds
and short-dated deposits, (overnight to 100 days), in order to benefit from the
compounding of interest.
7.5

Investment performance / risk benchmarking

This Council will use an investment benchmark to assess the investment
performance of its investment portfolio of 7 day, LIBID compounded. A rate of
0.86% was achieve up to 31/01/20 against a benchmark rate of 0.76%.
At the end of the financial year, the Council will also report on its investment
activity as part of its Annual Treasury Report.
7.6 Changes to Treasury Management Policy Statement
Following the coronavirus outbreak, it is recommended to include the following
in extremis changes to the Treasury Policy statement.
a) Temporary increase the investment balance we can hold with Nat West
Bank (the Council’s bank) from the £20m limit to unlimited.
This change is only to be used in extremis: for example, if there are serious
transmission issues within the financial markets or problems caused by high
staff sickness, within the Council.
b) Reduce the credit rating required for Money market funds from Aaa to AA.
This is to ensure we can still continue to use the funds if they are
downgraded. In normal circumstances, the Council uses money market funds
which have a credit rating of Aaa (the top rating). These funds are instant
access and so are ideal for managing the Council’s day to day cash
requirements.

Page 85

22

8. OPTIONS
None
9. FINANCE & RESOURCE APPRAISAL
The financial implications are set out above
10. RISK APPRAISAL
10.1 The principal risks associated with treasury management are:
Risk: Loss of investments as a result of failure of counterparties.
Mitigation: Limiting the types of investment instruments used, setting lending
criteria for counterparties, and limiting the extent of exposure to individual
counterparties.
Risk: That the council will commit too much of its investments in fixed term
investments and might have to recall investments prematurely resulting in
possible additional costs or new borrowing (Liquidity risk).
Mitigation: Ensuring that a minimum proportion of investments are held in
short term investments for cash flow purposes.
Risk: Increase in the net financing costs of the Council due to borrowing at
high rates of interest.
Mitigation: Planning and undertaking borrowing and lending in light of
assessments of future interest rate movements, and by undertaking mostly
long term borrowing at fixed rates of interest (to reduce the volatility of capital
financing costs).
Risk: Higher interest rates increase borrowing making it more difficult to selffinance capital schemes. Debt servicing becomes less affordable and less
sustainable and crowds out revenue spend.
Mitigation: To pause, delay or defer capital schemes. To review opportunities
to borrow in the future at current interest rates.
Risk: The Council’s Minimum Revenue Policy charges an insufficient amount
to the Revenue Estimates to repay debt.
Mitigation: Align the Minimum Revenue Policy to the service benefit derived
from the Council’s assets.
Risk: Associated with cash management, legal requirements and fraud.
Mitigation: These risks are managed through;

Page 86

23



Treasury Management Practices covering all aspects of Treasury
management
procedures
including
cash
flow
forecasting,
documentation, monitoring, reporting and division of duties.



All Treasury management procedures and transactions are subject to
inspection by internal and external auditors. The council also employs
external financial advisors to provide information on market trends,
credit rating alerts, lending criteria advice and investment opportunities.

Risk: Anticipated borrowing is lower than expected because the 2020-21
capital budget is underspent.
Mitigation: Detailed cash flow monitoring
11. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
8.1 Any relevant implication considerations are set in the report.
12. OTHER IMPLICATIONS
9.1 Equal Rights implications –
9.2 Sustainability implications – no direct implications
9.3 Greenhouse Gas Emissions Impact- no direct implications
9.4 Community safety implications- no direct implications
9.5 Human Rights Act – no direct implication
9.6 Trade Unions – no direct implications
9.7 Ward Implications – no direct implications
13. NOT FOR PUBLICATIONS DOCUMENTS
None
14.RECOMMENDATIONS
That the changes to the Treasury Management Strategy set out in section 6b
and 7.6 be noted by the Governance and Audit Committee and passed to full
Council for adoption.
15. APPENDICES
Appendix 1 Prudential and Treasury Management indicators and MRP
statement
Appendix 2 Economic background
Appendix 3 Borrowing options
Appendix 4 Approved countries for investments
Appendix 5 Treasury management scheme of delegation
Appendix 6 Treasury management role of the section 151 officer

Page 87

24

16 Background Documents
Treasury Management Schedules
Treasury Management Practices
Treasury Policy
.

Page 88

25

Appendix 1 Prudential Indicators
31/03/19 31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Opening
Capital
Financing
Requirement
Increase in
borrowing
Less MRP
and other
financing
movements
Closing
Capital
Financing
Requirement

669

700

731

802

867

914

32

51

96

93

78

36

-1

-20

-25

-28

-31

-34

700

731

802

867

914

916

External Debt Analysis
31/03/19
31/03/20 31/03/21
Actual
Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
Opening Capital
Financing
Requirement
Private Finance
Initiative
Earmarked
Reserves
Investments
Working Capital
(ii) Opening
External Debt 1
April
Under borrowing

31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m

669

700

732

803

868

916

-178

-174

-169

-165

-161

-156

-202

-256

-256

-256

-256

-256

35
2

53
-9

10
-9

10
-9

10
-9

10
-9

326

314

308

383

452

505

343

386

424

420

416

411

Analysis of Capital Spend Requiring Borrowing
31/03/19 31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Actual Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Total Capital
Spend

84

121

209

Page 89

205

190

42

26

Capital
Spend not
funded from
borrowing
Capital
spend
funded from
borrowing

53

70

113

112

112

6

31

51

96

93

78

36

Projected New Borrowing
31/03/20 31/03/21 31/03/22 31/03/23 31/03/24
Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
Borrowing
requirement for
capital budget
Maturing loans
Investment/working
capital changes
MRP (excluding PFI)
External Loan
requirement

51

96

93

78

36

17

2

6

16

6

7

-43

0

0

0

-15

-21

-23

-26

-30

60

34

76

68

12

Operational Limit for external Debt
201819

External Loans
Other Long term
liabilities

201920

£m
400

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24
Proposed Proposed Proposed Proposed
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
410
540
605
655
655

200

180

180

180

180

180

Authorised Limit for external Debt

External Loans
Other Long term
liabilities

201819

201920

2020-21

2021-22

2022-23

2023-24

£m
420

£m
430

£m
550

£m
615

£m
665

£m
665

220

200

180

180

180

180

Page 90

27

The Section 151 Officer is authorised to amend the separately identified
figures for borrowing and other long term liabilities for both the operational and
the authorised limit.

Page 91

28

Appendix 2:
policy

Proposed Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

1.1

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to make a
provision for the repayment of borrowing used to finance its capital
expenditure, known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).

1.2

The MRP is the amount of principal capital repayment that is set aside
each year in order to repay the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)
based on the requirement of statutory regulation and the Council’s own
accounting policies.

1.3

The Council is required to state as part of its budget process the policy
for determining its MRP. The policy was changed last year for PFI
assets generating savings in the current and future years. This year
there is one proposed change to the policy adopted last year in relation
to asset lives. The method for calculating the MRP on each category of
debt is outlined below:
a) The policy for charging MRP on historic supported borrowing is on
the asset life method calculated on an equal instalment basis over
50 years.
b) Unsupported or prudential borrowing MRP is based on the Asset
Life method – that is, the expenditure financed from borrowing is
divided by the expected asset life. For schemes funded before 31 st
March 2012 the MRP is calculated on the annuity basis and for
schemes funded after 1st April 2012 the MRP is calculated on an
equal instalment basis. This means no change to existing policy.
c) Since 2009/10 the appropriate financing costs for the Council’s
Building Schools for the Future (BSF) Private Finance Initiative
(PFI) schemes have been included in MRP calculations. In 2018-19
the MRP policy for PFI assets was brought into line with the main
MRP Policy and the charge of the principal to the revenue account
is now over the life of the school building assets.
d) Asset lives are reviewed on an ongoing basis to match the MRP
charge to the Revenue Estimates with the service benefit derived
from the asset.
e) Where the Council has made property investments [or an invest to
save investment] during or after 2018-19, the Section 151 Officer
may choose to repay debt over the asset life using the annuity
method. This is subject to an in house valuation that the investment
property has retained or increased in value. Further it is subject to
the condition that the in-year yield is above that average for
Treasury Investments and this is expected to continue into the
future.

Page 92

29

1.4

The CFR represents the amount of capital expenditure that has been
financed from borrowing, less any amounts that the Council has set
aside to repay that debt through the MRP. Borrowing may come from
loans taken from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) or commercial
banks, finance leases (including PFI) or from the use of the Council’s
own cash balances.

1.5

External debt can be less than the CFR. External debt cannot exceed
the CFR (other than for short term cash flow purposes or cash flow
management.)

1.6

There is an International Financial Reporting Standards requirement
that assets funded from finance leases (including PFI deals) are
brought onto the balance sheet. This also includes the liability as well
as the asset. Therefore, the term borrowing does not just include loans
from the Public Works Loan Board and banks, but also the liability
implicit in PFI and other finance leases.

1.7

The CIP will need to be reviewed through the planning cycle to ensure
it remains affordable within revenue resources and to take account of
the actual implementation of capital schemes.

1.8

Loans to third parties for a capital purpose can be repaid with the
repayments providing the following conditions are met: the capital
scheme is self-financing; that there is overall confidence that the loan
will be repaid; that the third party adheres to the agreed repayment
schedule.

Page 93

30

Appendix 3 Economic background
UK. Brexit. 2019 was a year of upheaval on the political front as Theresa
May resigned as Prime Minister to be replaced by Boris Johnson on a
platform of the UK leaving the EU on 31 October 2019, with or without a deal.
However, MPs blocked leaving on that date and the EU agreed an extension
to 31 January 2020. In late October, MPs approved an outline of a Brexit deal
to enable the UK to leave the EU on 31 January. The Conservative
Government gained a large overall majority in the general election on 12
December; this ensured that the UK left the EU on 31 January. However,
there will still be much uncertainty as the detail of a comprehensive trade deal
will need to be negotiated by the current end of the transition period in
December 2020, which the Prime Minister has pledged he will not extend.
This could prove to be an unrealistically short timetable for such major
negotiations that leaves open three possibilities; a partial agreement on many
areas of agreement and then continuing negotiations to deal with the residual
areas, the need for the target date to be put back, probably two years, or, a no
deal Brexit in December 2020.
GDP growth took a big hit from both political and Brexit uncertainty during
2019; quarter three 2019 surprised on the upside by coming in at +0.4% q/q,
+1.1% y/y. However, the peak of Brexit uncertainty during the final quarter
appears to have suppressed quarterly growth to probably around zero. The
forward-looking surveys in January have indicated that there could be a
significant recovery of growth now that much uncertainty has gone.
Nevertheless, economic growth may only come in at about 1% in 2020,
pending the outcome of negotiations on a trade deal. Provided there is a
satisfactory resolution of those negotiations, which are in both the EU’s and
UK’s interest, then growth should strengthen further in 2021.
At its 30 January meeting, the Monetary Policy Committee held Bank Rate
unchanged at 0.75%. The vote was again split 7-2, with two votes for a cut to
0.50%. The financial markets had been predicting a 50:50 chance of a rate cut
at the time of the meeting. Admittedly, there had been plenty of downbeat UK
economic news in December and January which showed that all the political
uncertainty leading up to the general election, together with uncertainty over
where Brexit would be going after the election, had depressed economic
growth in quarter 4. In addition, three members of the MPC had made
speeches in January which were distinctly on the dovish side, flagging up their
concerns over weak growth and low inflation; as there were two other
members of the MPC who voted for a rate cut in November, five would be a
majority at the January MPC meeting if those three followed through on their
concerns.
However, that downbeat news was backward looking; more recent economic
statistics and forward-looking business surveys, have all pointed in the
direction of a robust bounce in economic activity and a recovery of confidence
after the decisive result of the general election removed political and
immediate Brexit uncertainty. In addition, the September spending round
increases in expenditure will start kicking in from April 2020, while the Budget

Page 94

31

in March is widely expected to include a substantial fiscal boost by further
increases in expenditure, especially on infrastructure. The Bank of England
cut its forecasts for growth from 1.2% to 0.8% for 2020, and from 1.8% to
1.4% for 2021. However, these forecasts could not include any allowance for
the predicted fiscal boost in the March Budget. Overall, the MPC clearly
decided to focus on the more recent forward-looking news than the earlier
downbeat news.
The quarterly Monetary Policy Report did, though, flag up that there was still a
risk of a Bank Rate cut; "Policy may need to reinforce the expected recovery
in UK GDP growth should the more positive signals from recent indicators of
global and domestic activity not be sustained or should indicators of domestic
prices remain relatively weak." Obviously, if trade negotiations with the EU
failed to make satisfactory progress, this could dampen confidence and
growth. On the other hand, there was also a warning in the other direction,
that if growth were to pick up strongly, as suggested by recent business
surveys, then "some modest tightening" of policy might be needed further
ahead. It was therefore notable that the Bank had dropped its phrase that
tightening would be "limited and gradual", a long-standing piece of forward
guidance; this gives the MPC more room to raise Bank Rate more quickly if
growth was to surge and, in turn, lead to a surge in inflation above the 2%
target rate.
As for inflation itself, CPI has been hovering around the Bank of England’s
target of 2% during 2019, but fell again in both October and November to a
three-year low of 1.5% and then even further to 1.3% in December. It is likely
to remain close to or under 2% over the next two years and so, it does not
pose any immediate concern to the MPC at the current time. However, if there
was a hard or no deal Brexit, inflation could rise towards 4%, primarily
because of imported inflation on the back of a weakening pound.
With regard to the labour market, growth in numbers employed has been
quite resilient through 2019 until the three months to September, where it fell
by 58,000. However, there was an encouraging pick up again in the three
months to October to growth of 24,000 and then a stunning increase of
208,000 in the three months to November. The unemployment rate held
steady at a 44-year low of 3.8% on the Independent Labour Organisation
measure. Wage inflation has been steadily falling from a high point of 3.9% in
July to 3.4% in November (3-month average regular pay, excluding bonuses).
This meant that in real terms, (i.e. wage rates higher than CPI inflation),
earnings grew by about 2.1%. As the UK economy is very much services
sector driven, an increase in household spending power is likely to feed
through into providing some support to the overall rate of economic growth in
the coming months. The other message from the fall in wage growth is that
employers are beginning to find it easier to hire suitable staff, indicating that
supply pressure in the labour market is easing.
Coronavirus. The Coronavirus outbreak is now causing significant disruption
to the economy of China and could spill over to affect other countries. The
Chinese economy is now very much bigger than it was at the time of the
SARS outbreak in 2003 and far more integrated into world supply chains.

Page 95

32

However, a temporary dip in Chinese growth might only lead to a catch up of
lost production in following quarters with minimal net overall effect over a
period of a year. However, no one knows quite how big an impact this virus
will have around the world; hopefully, the efforts of the WHO and the Chinese
authorities will ensure that the current level of infection does not multiply
greatly. However, more recent news of significant outbreaks in Italy and Iran,
and new cases being reported in several other countries, have alarmed
investors; on 24 and 25 February, bond yields and equity markets fell sharply
as investors moved into safe haven investments. The 10 year US bond yield
hit a record low, which, in more normal times, would be seen as a predictor of
a coming recession. However, this could also be viewed as being a panic
reaction to a worst case scenario which may not occur.
If the coronavirus outbreak were to become more widespread in Europe and
the US, it would raise a question as to whether central banks might need to
take action to cut interest rates, or ease monetary policy in other ways, to help
economies suffering significant disruption to economic activity. If the situation
does deteriorate, then it is likely that we will see low bond yields, lower global
growth and investor confidence waning until an end is in sight for the
coronavirus crisis i.e. the forecasts for interest rates in this report will be
knocked off course.

In recent weeks, western countries and countries neighbouring China have
also started to be affected by shortages of key components from China, e.g. in
car manufacture: just one missing component will mean that a car cannot be
fully assembled or sold. This will undoubtedly raise doubts about future
reliance on sourcing individual components from China, especially where 3D
printing and/or artificial intelligence are beginning to tip the scales in favour of
on-shoring some production back from China
USA. After growth of 2.9% y/y in 2018 fuelled by President Trump’s massive
easing of fiscal policy, growth has weakened in 2019. After a strong start in
quarter 1 at 3.1%, (annualised rate), it fell to 2.0% in quarter 2 and then 2.1%
in quarters 3 and 4. This left the rate for 2019 as a whole at 2.3%, a slowdown
from 2018 but not the precursor of a recession which financial markets had
been fearing earlier in the year. Forward indicators are currently indicating that
growth is likely to strengthen somewhat moving forward into 2020.
The Fed finished its series of increases in rates to 2.25 – 2.50% in December
2018. In July 2019, it cut rates by 0.25% as a ‘midterm adjustment’. It also
ended its programme of quantitative tightening in August 2019, (reducing its
holdings of treasuries etc.). It then cut rates by 0.25% again in September
and by another 0.25% in its October meeting to 1.50 – 1.75%. It left rates
unchanged at its December meeting. Rates were again left unchanged at its
end of January meeting although it had been thought that as the yield curve
on Treasuries had been close to inverting again, (with 10 year yields nearly
falling below 2 year yields - this is often viewed as being a potential indicator
of impending recession), that the Fed could have cut rates, especially in view
of the threat posed by the coronavirus. However, it acknowledged that

Page 96

33

coronavirus was a threat of economic disruption but was not serious at the
current time for the USA. In addition, the phase 1 trade deal with China is
supportive of growth. The Fed though, does have an issue that despite
reasonably strong growth rates, its inflation rate has stubbornly refused to rise
to its preferred core inflation target of 2%; it came in at 1.6% in December. It
is therefore unlikely to be raising rates in the near term. It is also committed to
reviewing its approach to monetary policy by midyear 2020; this may include a
move to inflation targeting becoming an average figure of 2% so as to allow
more flexibility for inflation to under and over shoot.
“The NEW NORMAL.” The Fed chairman has given an overview of the
current big picture of the economy by summing it up as A NEW NORMAL OF
LOW INTEREST RATES, LOW INFLATION AND PROBABLY LOWER
GROWTH. This is indeed an affliction that has mired Japan for the last two
decades despite strenuous efforts to stimulate growth and inflation by copious
amounts of fiscal stimulus and cutting rates to zero. China and the EU are
currently facing the same difficulty to trying to get inflation and growth up. Our
own MPC may well have growing concerns and one MPC member specifically
warned on the potential for a low inflation trap in January.
It is also worth noting that no less than a quarter of total world sovereign debt
is now yielding negative returns.
EUROZONE. Growth has been slowing from +1.8 % during 2018 to nearly
half of that in 2019. Growth was +0.4% q/q in quarter 1, +0.2% q/q in
quarters 2 and 3; it then fell to +0.1% in quarter 4 for a total overall growth
rate of only 1.0% in 2019. Recovery from quarter 4 is expected to be slow and
gradual. German GDP growth has been struggling to stay in positive territory
in 2019 and grew by only 0.6% in 2019, with quarter 4 potentially being a
negative number. Germany would be particularly vulnerable to a no deal
Brexit depressing exports further and if President Trump imposes tariffs on EU
produced cars.

The European Central Bank (ECB) ended its programme of quantitative
easing purchases of debt in December 2018, which then meant that the
central banks in the US, UK and EU had all ended the phase of post financial
crisis expansion of liquidity supporting world financial markets by quantitative
easing purchases of debt. However, the downturn in EZ growth in the second
half of 2018 and in 2019, together with inflation falling well under the upper
limit of its target range of 0 to 2%, (but it aims to keep it near to 2%), has
prompted the ECB to take new measures to stimulate growth. At its March
2019 meeting, it said that it expected to leave interest rates at their present
levels “at least through to the end of 2019”, but that was of little help to
boosting growth in the near term. Consequently, it announced a third round
of TLTROs; this provides banks with cheap borrowing every three months
from September 2019 until March 2021 that means that, although they would
have only a two-year maturity, the Bank was making funds available until
2023, two years later than under its previous policy. As with the last round, the
new TLTROs will include an incentive to encourage bank lending, and they
will be capped at 30% of a bank’s eligible loans. However, since then, the

Page 97

34

downturn in EZ and world growth has gathered momentum; at its meeting on
12 September, it cut its deposit rate further into negative territory, from -0.4%
to -0.5%, and announced a resumption of quantitative easing purchases
of debt for an unlimited period. At its October meeting it said these
purchases would start in November at €20bn per month - a relatively small
amount compared to the previous buying programme. It also increased the
maturity of the third round of TLTROs from two to three years. However, it is
doubtful whether this loosening of monetary policy will have much impact on
growth and, unsurprisingly, the ECB stated that governments would need to
help stimulate growth by ‘growth friendly’ fiscal policy. There have been no
changes in rates or monetary policy since October. In January, the ECB
warned that the economic outlook was ‘tilted to the downside’ and repeated
previous requests for governments to do more to stimulate growth by
increasing national spending. The new President of the ECB, Christine
Lagarde who took over in December, also stated that a year long review of
monetary policy, including the price stability target, would be conducted by the
ECB
On the political front, Austria, Spain and Italy have been in the throes of
forming coalition governments with some unlikely combinations of parties
i.e. this raises questions around their likely endurance. The most recent
results of German state elections has put further pressure on the frail German
CDU/SDP coalition government and on the current leadership of the CDU.
CHINA. Economic growth has been weakening over successive years,
despite repeated rounds of central bank stimulus; medium term risks are
increasing. Major progress still needs to be made to eliminate excess
industrial capacity and the stock of unsold property, and to address the level
of non-performing loans in the banking and shadow banking systems. In
addition, there still needs to be a greater switch from investment in industrial
capacity, property construction and infrastructure to consumer goods
production.
JAPAN - has been struggling to stimulate consistent significant GDP growth
and to get inflation up to its target of 2%, despite huge monetary and fiscal
stimulus. It is also making little progress on fundamental reform of the
economy.
WORLD GROWTH. Until recent years, world growth has been boosted by
increasing globalisation i.e. countries specialising in producing goods and
commodities in which they have an economic advantage and which they then
trade with the rest of the world. This has boosted worldwide productivity and
growth, and, by lowering costs, has also depressed inflation. However, the
rise of China as an economic superpower over the last thirty years, which now
accounts for nearly 20% of total world GDP, has unbalanced the world
economy. The Chinese government has targeted achieving major world
positions in specific key sectors and products, especially high tech areas and
production of rare earth minerals used in high tech products. It is achieving
this by massive financial support, (i.e. subsidies), to state owned firms,
government directions to other firms, technology theft, restrictions on market
access by foreign firms and informal targets for the domestic market share of

Page 98

35

Chinese producers in the selected sectors. This is regarded as being unfair
competition that is putting western firms at an unfair disadvantage or even
putting some out of business. It is also regarded with suspicion on the political
front as China is an authoritarian country that is not averse to using economic
and military power for political advantage. The current trade war between the
US and China therefore needs to be seen against that backdrop. It is,
therefore, likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a
reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of western countries
from dependence on China to supply products. This is likely to produce a
backdrop in the coming years of weak global growth and so weak inflation.
Central banks are, therefore, likely to come under more pressure to
support growth by looser monetary policy measures and this will
militate against central banks increasing interest rates.
The trade war between the US and China is a major concern to financial
markets due to the synchronised general weakening of growth in the major
economies of the world, compounded by fears that there could even be a
recession looming up in the US, though this is probably overblown. These
concerns resulted in government bond yields in the developed world falling
significantly during 2019. If there were a major worldwide downturn in growth,
central banks in most of the major economies will have limited ammunition
available, in terms of monetary policy measures, when rates are already very
low in most countries, (apart from the US). There are also concerns about
how much distortion of financial markets has already occurred with the current
levels of quantitative easing purchases of debt by central banks and the use
of negative central bank rates in some countries.
INTEREST RATE FORECASTS
The interest rate forecasts provided by Link Asset Services in paragraph 3.3
are predicated on an assumption of an agreement being reached on
Brexit between the UK and the EU. On this basis, while GDP growth is
likely to be subdued in 2019 and 2020 due to all the uncertainties around
Brexit depressing consumer and business confidence, an agreement on the
detailed terms of a trade deal is likely to lead to a boost to the rate of growth in
subsequent years. This could, in turn, increase inflationary pressures in the
economy and so cause the Bank of England to resume a series of gentle
increases in Bank Rate. Just how fast, and how far, those increases will
occur and rise to, will be data dependent. The forecasts in this report assume
a modest recovery in the rate and timing of stronger growth and in the
corresponding response by the Bank in raising rates.
 In the event of an orderly non-agreement exit in December 2020, it
is likely that the Bank of England would take action to cut Bank Rate
from 0.75% in order to help economic growth deal with the adverse
effects of this situation. This is also likely to cause short to medium
term gilt yields to fall.
 If there were a disorderly Brexit, then any cut in Bank Rate would be
likely to last for a longer period and also depress short and medium gilt
yields correspondingly. Quantitative easing could also be restarted by
the Bank of England. It is also possible that the government could act
to protect economic growth by implementing fiscal stimulus.

Page 99

36

The balance of risks to the UK
 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is probably
relatively even due to the weight of all the uncertainties over post-Brexit
trade arrangements and the impact of an expansionary government
spending policy (as expected in the Budget on 11th March).
 The balance of risks to increases or decreases in Bank Rate and
shorter term PWLB rates are also broadly even.
One risk that is both an upside and downside risk, is that all central banks are
now working in very different economic conditions than before the 2008
financial crash as there has been a major increase in consumer and other
debt due to the exceptionally low levels of borrowing rates that have prevailed
since 2008. This means that the neutral rate of interest in an economy, (i.e.
the rate that is neither expansionary nor deflationary), is difficult to determine
definitively in this new environment, although central banks have made
statements that they expect it to be much lower than before 2008. Central
banks could therefore either over or under do increases in central interest
rates.
Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates
currently include:
 Post Brexit trade negotiations – if it were to cause significant
economic disruption and a major downturn in the rate of growth.
 Bank of England takes action too quickly, or too far, over the next
three years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and
increases in inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.
 A resurgence of the Eurozone sovereign debt crisis. In 2018, Italy
was a major concern due to having a populist coalition government
which made a lot of anti-austerity and anti-EU noise. However, in
September 2019 there was a major change in the coalition governing
Italy which has brought to power a much more EU friendly government;
this has eased the pressure on Italian bonds. Only time will tell whether
this new coalition based on an unlikely alliance of two very different
parties will endure.
 Weak capitalisation of some European banks, particularly Italian
banks.
 German minority government. In the German general election of
September 2017, Angela Merkel’s CDU party was left in a vulnerable
minority position dependent on the fractious support of the SPD party,
as a result of the rise in popularity of the anti-immigration AfD party.
The CDU has done badly in recent state elections but the SPD has
done particularly badly and this has raised a major question mark over
continuing to support the CDU. Angela Merkel has stepped down from
being the CDU party leader but she intends to remain as Chancellor
until 2021.

Page 100

37




Other minority EU governments. Austria, Finland, Sweden, Spain,
Portugal, Netherlands and Belgium also have vulnerable minority
governments dependent on coalitions which could prove fragile.
Austria, the Czech Republic, Poland and Hungary now form a
strongly anti-immigration bloc within the EU. There has also been
rising anti-immigration sentiment in Germany and France.

Page 101

38









In October 2019, the IMF issued a report on the World Economic
Outlook which flagged up a synchronised slowdown in world growth.
However, it also flagged up that there was potential for a rerun of the
2008 financial crisis, but his time centred on the huge debt binge
accumulated by corporations during the decade of low interest rates.
This now means that there are corporates who would be unable to
cover basic interest costs on some $19trn of corporate debt in major
western economies, if world growth was to dip further than just a
minor cooling. This debt is mainly held by the shadow banking sector
i.e. pension funds, insurers, hedge funds, asset managers etc., who,
when there is $15trn of corporate and government debt now yielding
negative interest rates, have been searching for higher returns in riskier
assets. Much of this debt is only marginally above investment grade so
any rating downgrade could force some holders into a fire sale, which
would then depress prices further and so set off a spiral down. The
IMF’s answer is to suggest imposing higher capital charges on lending
to corporates and for central banks to regulate the investment
operations of the shadow banking sector. In October 2019, the deputy
Governor of the Bank of England also flagged up the dangers of banks
and the shadow banking sector lending to corporates, especially highly
leveraged corporates, which had risen back up to near pre-2008 levels.
Geopolitical risks, for example in North Korea, but also in Europe and
the Middle East, which could lead to increasing safe haven flows.
Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB
rates
Brexit – if a comprehensive agreement on a trade deal was reached
that removed all threats of economic and political disruption between
the EU and the UK.
The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases
in Bank Rate and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up
too strongly within the UK economy, which then necessitates a later
rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster than we currently expect.
UK inflation, whether domestically generated or imported, returning to
sustained significantly higher levels causing an increase in the inflation
premium inherent to gilt yields.
A pandemic causing major economic disruption around the world.

Page 102

Appendix 4 Borrowing options
Cannot
forward
borrow

Partial
forward
borrow

Time period

Forward Borrow
Private direct
Direct lending lending made
Public Works
Local
from multiple to a single
Loan Board Public Bond Government lenders
investor
Private direct
Direct lending lending made
Public Works Listed fixed Local
from multiple to a single
Loan Board rate debt
Government lenders
investor
£m to maybe
£50m
separate
>£30 million
>£10m upto
Any size
>£100m-150m Councils
plus
£50m
up to 50
years
15-50 years
up to 3 years 10 -50 years
10-50 years

Council's credit rating

not required required

Description

Issuance Size

Dealing costs
Annual costs

£350 per
million
no ongoing
costs

Documentation

1.80% over
gilts
Just a loan
form

Timetable

instant

Estimated Rates

not required not required

Broker fee
£1.37 per
<£750,000
million x days
no ongoing
<£25000
costs
1 year 0.40%
over gilts/2
year 0.95%
Maybe lower over gilts/3
than private year 1.15%
placement
over gilts
Just a loan
Prospectus
form
12 weeks
(including
credit rating) instant

Page 103

£2400 brokerage
fee per £1m
no ongoing
costs

not required

Sale direct to
a private
investor

>£30m
10 to maybe
50 years
not required

£2400
brokerage fee
per £1m
<£250,000
no ongoing
no ongoing
costs
costs

1.30%-1.60%
over gilts

1.50% over
gilts
Loan
Loan agreement agreement

2-5 weeks

Sale direct to
a private
investor

around 5
weeks

est 1.20 % to
1.50% over
gilts
Investor
driven
12 weeks
minimum

Appendix 5 APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENTS
This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher, (we
show the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P) and also, (except - at the time of
writing - for Hong Kong, Norway and Luxembourg), have banks operating in sterling
markets which have credit ratings of green or above in the Link Asset Services credit
worthiness service.
Based on lowest available rating
AAA











Australia
Canada
Denmark
Germany
Luxembourg
Netherlands
Norway
Singapore
Sweden
Switzerland

AA+



Finland
U.S.A.

AA




Hong Kong
France
U.K.

AA

Belgium

Page 104

Appendix6 TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION
(i) Full board/council


receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and
activities;



approval of annual strategy.



.

(ii) Governance and Audit Committee


approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury
management policy statement and treasury management practices;



budget consideration and approval;



approval of the division of responsibilities;



receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations;

(iii) Internal Audit


reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making
recommendations to the responsible body.

The S151 (responsible) officer
recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the
same regularly, and monitoring compliance;


submitting regular treasury management policy reports;



submitting budgets and budget variations;



receiving and reviewing management information reports;



reviewing the performance of the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the
effective division of responsibilities within the treasury management function;



ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit;



Approving the appointment of external service providers



preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing,
and treasury management, with a long term timeframe

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

